AGENDA

1. Call to Order

11. Presentation
A. Randall DiPalo, Larson, Kellett & Associates, PC

B. Scott Cousins, CRA
C. Ken Phillips, Raymond Jamey

IIl.  Public Comments. Residents and Tax Payers may cormment on matters of concern,
official action or deliberating before the board. Each member of the Public will be
provided one unpaused three-minute time frame.

IV. Action Items

V. Information Items



Montoursville Area School District
School Board Agenda
March 22, 2022
7:00 PM
Montoursville Area High School

General: i

G-1  Approval of the revised 2022-2023 schoo! calendar for the second and final reading.
(Attachment)

G-2  Approval to appoint Jessica Breon to the MASD Foundation Board as a faculty representative.
Mrs. Breon will take the place of Mrs. Logue.

G-3  Approval of the purchase of Cafeteria Tables, at a price of $28,725.00 for Lyter and C. E,
McCall Middle School. (Attachment)

G-4  Approval for professional employees providing instructional services outside of the school day

between March 7, 2022 to April 14, 2022 to be compensated at an hourly rate of $31/hour.
Total cost not to exceed $1,250.00 to be paid out of ARP ESSERS 7% Set Aside Funds for the
purpose of After School Programming.

Personnel: MJ

P-1

P-2

P-3

P-4

Appraoval of the following addition to the Support Staff;

Employee Position Hours | Rate of Pay | Effective Replacement
for:

Shalea Aikey | Paraprofessional | 5.5 $12.50/hour | March 9, 2022 | Ashley
Stackhouse

Approval of the following addition to the Substitute Support Staff list for the 2021-2022 school
year:

Substitute Position
Amanda Phlegar Paraprofessional

Approval of the following addition to the Guest Teacher list for the 2021-2022 school year:

Guest Teacher
Benjamin Landon

Approval of the following addition to the coaching staff for the 2021-2022 school year:

Coach Sport Position Stipend Replacement for:
Gary Evans Foothali Voluntesar Coach | NA NA




P-&6  Approval of the following resignation from a member of the Business Office staff,

Employee Position Effective
Darren Tull Business Office Specialist March 30, 2022
| Transportation |

T-1  Approval of the following Transportation Contracts for July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2027.

{(Attachment)

i Budget and Finance:

BF-1 Acknowledgement of the Montoursville Area School District's financial statements for the year
ending June 30, 2021, as well as the related audit report from Larson, Kellett and Associates,

PC. (Attachment)







Board Approved 3/22/2022 Montoursville Area School District G-1
2022.2023 School Calendar

July August 22 23 24 - Teacher In-service January

SIM[T W T F August 25 — 1% day for studenis - Grades 1 to WiT
12
August 25 — Kindergarten Grientation 415
August 26 — 1% day for Kindergarten 11712

18 | 18
September 2 and 5§ ~ Labor Day = No School 25 | 98
October 10 ~ No School K-12 ~ Teacher in-
service day
Novamber 21, 22 — Na Schoof - K - 12 February
»  Fareny/Teacher Confarences S M{T|W!T|F |5
«  Teacher in-service day

November 23, 24, 25, 28— Thanksgiving Break 1 2
— No School o}
December 23 — January 2 - No School
January 16 ~ Marin Luther King Day - No
School
February 13 — No School (snow makeup day)
February 20 ~ President's Day ~ No School
{shaw makeup day)

March 10 ~ No School (snow makeup day)
March 13 — No School (snow makeaup day)

April 8 ~ No School k-4
« Parent/Teacher Conferences

» Teacher in-service day K-4 only
» Regular schoo! for grades 5-12
418618 April 7 and 10 — Easter Break — No School
311112 |13 .
May 29 — Memorial Day - No School
18 |19 | 20 ¥ e ey = o sehon
25126 |27 June 8 — Graduation Day
June 8 AM (tentative)- Last Student Day
Snowlemergancy days will be added to the
November &nd of the school year as necessary
S/ M| TIWIT|F! S beginning with June Sth.
1
7 3 21314 PS5A/Keystone dates:
8 [10}]11 Winter Keystone — December 5-16, 2022 and
17 January 4-18, 2023

Spring Keysione — May 15-26, 2023
PSSA English LA - April 24 - 28, 2023 (grades

3-8)
PSEA Math and Science — May 1 - 12, 2023
December (grades 3-8 Math) {grades 4 & 8§ Science)
S M| T|W|T| F S
Calendar is subject to change with school board
approval, S M| TIiWIT|F| 8§

Teacher Days = 158

Elementary = 181 Kindergarten = 180
Middle School = 182

High School = 182




EED

ASEOCIATES, INC.
842 W, FOXCROFT DRIVE * CAMP HILL, PA 17011 » PHONE: 717.576.5823

1500 INDUSTRY ROAD SUITE P » HATFIELD, PA 18440 « PHONE: 215,256 9572 « FAX: 215 256.0443

www.reedassoclatesinc.com
March 17, 2022

Montoursville Area School District
Attn: Darrin Feerrar

Materiat Proposal for Lyter Elementary / McCall MS
We are pleased to quote on the following: ‘

Cafeteria Tables: Mitchel Furniture Systems .

Lyter: ‘ E T ' '

15 each 12’ Mobile Bench  NPX12-26 MDF-DB. = . . . . $1,755.00/each
30" W x 29”H /17" Bench

MeCall:

2 each 60" Round Fold and Roll Table FR-60R $1.200.00/each

Total Purchase

Notes:

1. Provided with MDF Core laminate top with DuraBond edge and powder coat paint frame.

2. Price includes freight, tailgate delivery with.two stops.
3. Blanket wrapped with truck ramp included.

4. No unloading or installation included,

3. Price valid for 30 days

Submitted by:
Michael J. Rudy

$26,325.00

$2,400.00
$28,725.00

DISTRIBUTORS & DESIGN CONSULTANTS TO THE EDUCATIONAL, INSTITUTIONAL AND MEMCAL PROFESSIONS
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
AGREEMENT FOR THE TRANSPORTATION OF SCHOOL, PUPILS

THIS AGREEMENT entered into this 1* day of July, 2022 by and between the
MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT OF LYCDMING COUNTY (the

“DISTRICT”) AND Koser Russing of
17728 (the “CONTRACTOR?).

The District and the Contractor are collectively referred to as the “Parties”.
WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the sttnct has- approved the Contractor to prcmde pupll transportatmn
services fora five (5) year term; and

L ‘WHERFAS Contractnr agrees to provzdc such tran&;partatmn servmes
" hereinafter descnbed and R

NOW, THERLFDRE in cnnmderatmn ofthe covenants hermnaﬁer contained, the Partles
agree as follows:

M * U

1.1 The term of this agreement shall commence on July 1,2022 and shall continue through June
30, 2027. For purposes of this agreement, the term contract year” shall mean each one-
year period commencing on July 1 during the térm of this agreement.

2.1  For the consideration hereinafter described, Contractor agrees to provide transportation of
District students who shall be designated by the District (“Passengers™), to and from such points,
along and over such routes, and at the times set forth in the schedule to be provided before each
school year.

2.2 Contractor shall maintain all vehicles furnished by the Contractor in performance of this
agreement (“Vehicle” or “Vehmles”) in good mechanical and samtary conduuon and shall meet
mdustry standards.

2.3 Contractor shall supply Vehicles and persomel in quannty and capacity as are required to
fulfill the District’s needs for transportation services.
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24 Contractor will, in the performance of the terms of this agreement, abide by all of the laws
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, rules of any regulatory or administrative body of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania having jurisdiction as well as all of the policies, rules, regulations
and administrative directives pertaining to the transportation of District students that the District
shall, from time to time, promulgate. In the event of any change of such laws, rules, regulations,
policies or administrative directives, Contractor agrees that it will immediately and prior to the
furnishing of any transportation hereunder, comply with the same.

3.1 The District shall pay the Contractor a daily sum, to be calculated annually based on
mileage, for each day Contractor transports Passengers under this agreement. New rates will
be calculated each school year based off mileage submitted by Contractor and to be agreed upon
by both Parties, Compensation is based on the State Transportation Reimbursement Formula.
Mileage shall be determined annually based on Passenger need. A copy of the State
Transportation Reimbursement Formula is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. The District, in
determining “utilized passenger capacity”, will use the actual capacity of each Vehicle. The
District shall pay an increase over state formula of 102% in the first contract year, with a 1%
increase each contract year after.

3.2 Should the District operate for less than a full school year, the Contractor shall be
guaranteed compensation for at least 175 days.

3.3 Inthe event of a closure or remote learning due to an epidemic or pandemic (including the
COVID-19 pandemic), the District shall pay the Contractor 50% of the daily rate for the days
that are affected that contract year.

4.1  Passengers shall be allowed to enter or exit Vehicles only at stops designated by the District
and at the extreme right of any roadway. No Passengers shall be permitted to get on or off Vehicles
while they are in motion. No Vehicle operator (“Driver™) shall start the Vehicle or signal the driver
of any other vehicle, who was stopped in compliance with the provisions of section 3208 of the
school laws of Pennsylvania. No Vehicles shall proceed from a stopped position until each exiting
Passenger has reached a place of safety,

4.2 No person other than a Passenger shall be transported in a Vehicle except that a teacher or
other school official may ride when designated by the Superintendent or designee. No other person
or thing, except Passengers and their belongings, shall be transpotted in a Vehicle while it is
engaged in transporting Passengers to and from District property.

43  Vehicles shall come to a complete stop immediately before traversing railway or trolley
grade crossings and shall make a complete stop at all highway intersections protected by a "stop"
sign.

4.4 Vehicles, including Type A Vehicles, shall not be loaded beyond the seating capacity as
set forth in minimum standards and as indicated on the "Approved School Bus Sticker." All other
public conveyances when transporting Passengers under contract shall provide adequate seating
for each student with no standing students permitted.
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4.5  Thespeed of a Vehicle shall at all times be consistent with the safety of the passengers and
shall at no titme exceed the speed limit as set forth in the minimum standards of the Bureau of
Traffic Safety, Pennsylvania Departruent of Transportation, as promulgated from the Vehicle
Code.

f | *PH f

5.1 Contractor shall employ a sufficient number of qualified Drivers and support personnel
to assure District of continuous, reliable, safe, and on time service.

5.2  Contractor shall take reasonable steps to prevent its Drivers, employees, agents or
subcontractors from exposing any Passenger to impropriety of word or conduct. Contractor shall
not permit Driver or support personnel to smoke on Vehicles, to drink any intoxicating beverage,
or to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol while operating a Vehicle. Contractor shall review
with its employees providing such services under this Agreement applicable policies of the
District prohibiting smproper and unlawful conduct, including by way of example and not
limitation, unlawful discrimination, harassment and intimidation, child abuse, and drug and
alcohol infractions. Copies of the District’s applicable policies are posted on the District’s
website and are incorporated into this Agreement as if fully set fort herein.

53  Contractor shall be responsible for hiring and discharging personnel employed by
Contractor to perform its obligations hereunder. However, the District shall have the right to
demand the removal of any Driver or support personnel from service to the District at the
District’s sole discretion, provided the District makes such request in writing and the action does
not violate applicable local, state or federal law, rules or regulations.

5.4 All Drivers must be approved by The District prior to operating a Vehicle and all records
and reports described in Paragraph 10.1 shall be submitted to The District prior to any
transportation services under this agreement.

5.5  Ewvery Driver shall comply with the regulations of the Burean of Traffic Safety of the
Pennsylvania Department of Transportation in regard to application, age, fitness, competence,
conduct, licensing, physical examination, and continuing eligibility. Drivers shall have passed
periodically administered physical examinations required by either the Public Utility
Commission, the Interstate Commerce Commission, or the Department of Transportation.

6.1  Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, Contractor shall, at its own expense, carry and
maintain during the performance of services under this agreement the following insurance in
amounts no less than that specified herein:

4. Commercial General Liability insurance in an amount of not less than [$1,000,000], per
claim and annual aggregate, covering premises and operations, independent contractors,
bodily injury (including death), personal injury, property damage including, and without
limitation, all contractual liability for such injury or damage assumed by Contractor under
this Agreement. The District shall be named as additional insured as its interest may
appear under the Commercial General Liability policy of insurance;
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b. Workers’ Compensation in accordance with all federal and state statutory requirements
and Employer’s Liability Insurance in an amount of not less than [$1,000,000] per accident
for bodily injury; and

¢. Automobile Liability Insurance with a limit of not less than [$1,000,000]; Commercial
Automobile Liability insurance in an amount of not less than [$1,000,000] combined single
limit covering bodily injury (including death) and property damage for all owned, hired
and non-owned Vehicles used by Contractor, The District shall be named as additional
insured as its interest may appear under the Autornobile Liability policy of insurance,

6.2  Theinsurance company(ies) issuing the policies for such insurance coverage must have at
least an A+ rating from AM Best, Contractor agrees to provide the District with certificates of
insurance evidencing the foregoing coverage. Certificates of insurance shall be provided to the

District prior to the commencement of the term described in Paragraph 1.1, within 10 days of any
written request by the District, and upon the renewal or amendment to any and all insurance
policies described in Paragraphs 6.1.

7.1  The Superintendent or designee in cooperation with the Contractor shall prepare an
operating time schedule. This schedule shall designate the time and place of all stops, both
morning and evening. The bus shall not depart from any designated stop before two minutes after
the scheduled time unless all pupils to be transported from that point are on board. The time
schedule may be modified by the Superintendent or designee as occasion demands but only after
due notice has been given to parents and operator.

7.2 Busroutes and bus stops shall be determined by the Superintendent or designee and may
be modified by the Superintendent or designee as occasion demands. A Driver shall not deviate
from the designated route except by written consent of the Superintendent or designee or, in the
case of an emergency, which shall be reported promptly to the Superintendent or designee. When
the same Vehicle is serving more than one school, the District shall make every effort to reconcile
the school calendars of the schools being served.

7.3 The District and Contractor will consult on a regular basis concerning the transportation
requirements of the District. In the event of increases or decreases the number of students requiring
transportation, or in routes and schedules, the number buses and the number of spare buses will be
adjusted accordingly.

8.1 Contractor agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the District, its governing board,
officers, employees and agents from and against every claim or demand which may be made by
any person, firm, or corporation, or any other entity arising from or caused by (a) Contractor’s
negligence in the performance of this agreement (b) any acts or omissions of Contractor, its
employees, subcontractors, or agents in connection with the services provided hereunder; or (¢)
any breach of this Agreement by Contractor, its employees, subcontractors, or agents. In the event
of any Claim to which this indemnification/hold harmless/defense applies, The Disirict shall
promptly notify Contractor of such claim, provided, however, the failure to give such notice shall
not relieve Contractor from its indemnification/hold harmless/defense obligations. This
obligation shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement.
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SECTION 9: FORCE MAJEURE

9.1 In the event Contractor is unable to provide the transportation services as specified in this
agreement because of any act of God, civil disturbance, fire, riot, war, terrorism, picketing, strike,
labor dispute, labor shortages, governmental action or any other condition or cause beyond
Contractor’s control, District shall excuse Contractor from performance under this agreement,

10.1  Contractor shall provide the District with copies of CDL Licenses, S card certifications,
annual physical exam cards, Act 34 criminal record checks, State Police Background Checks, Act
151 Child Abuse Clearances, and Act 114 Federal Criminal History checks (collectively
“Reports™), for all Drivers and as applicable, support personnel. All Reports shall be provided
to The District before any Driver commences operation of Vehicle transporting school students
or before support personnel come in direct contact with the District’s students. Additionally,
Contractor must immediately inform The District of any criminal conviction or instance occurring
subsequent to the initial District approval of each Driver or support personnel that would appear
on either a Criminal Background Check or Child Abuse Clearance Check. All Drivers or support
personnel must obtain a minimum of three (3) hours of child abuse recognition and reporting
training every five yvears,

10.2  Contractor agrees to furnish in a timely manner, any additional reports as may be required
by The District or its designated representatives.

SECTION 11: ASSIGNMENT

11.1  This Agreement shall not be transferred or assigned, without the written consent of
The District.

12.1  The District may terminate this Agreement for “Cause”. Termination for Cause shall mean
termination by The District of Contractor due to Contractor’s gross negligence, fraud, or any
violation of the terms or covenants set forth in this agreement.

12.2  The mutual obligations described in compensation and billing, indemmification shall
survive the termination or expiration of the agreement.

13.1 The parties agree that Contractor, and any employees, agents or contractors of Contractor
performing under this Agreement shall act in an independent Contractor capacity and not as
officers, employees, or agents of the District. Contractor’s employees shall at all times be and
remain solely the employees of Contractor, and Contractor shall be solely responsible for
payment of all of its employees’ wages, benefits, and other compensation. Contractor, without
any cost or expense 10 the District, shall faithfully comply with all applicable laws or regulation
involving workers® compensation and unemployment insurance, social security and withholding
of income tax from wages, and shall indemnify and hold the District harmless from any expenses
or claims of whatsoever nature which may arise from an alleged violation of such applicable laws
or regulations.
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14.1 No failure on the part of either party to exercise, and no delay in exercising any right
hereunder, shall operate as a waiver of such right, nor shall any single or partial exercise of such
right preclude any other further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.

i H LIRN] W

15.1 Except where preempted by federal law, this Agreement will be enforced, governed by,
and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, excluding any
choice of law principles that would cause the law of any other jurisdiction to be applied.

TV

16.1 In the event any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable
by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless
be binding upon the parties with the same effect as though the void or unenforceable part had been
severed and deleted.

17.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between The Parties with respect to this
Agreement, and all prior agreements relating to the services described hereunder, express or
implied, written or oral, are nullified and superseded hereby.

18.1 This Agreement may not be modified, amended, assigned, supplemented, or rescinded, nor
any provision hereof waived, except by an instrument in writing executed by the a duly authorized
representative of The Parties hereto, which, in the case of the District, shall include only the
Superintendent.

19.1 This Agreement, and any amendment or supplement hereto, may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

20.1 Fuel shall be furnished by Contractor. If fuel costs should rise above $5.00 per gallon, the
District shall pay 50% of the amount that exceeds $5.00 which is used exclusively for
transportation of District pupils pursuant to the terms and conditions of this agreement, unless
prior approval is requested by the contractor and received.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Parties above named have hereto set their hands
and seals the day and year aforesaid.

CONTRACTOR

BY

Koser Bussing

7697 Pleasant Valley Road
Cogan Station, PA 17728
Date

MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

ATTEST:
50 North Arch Street
Montoursville, PA 17754
BY BY

Secretary President
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
AGREEMENT FOR THE TRANSPORTATION OF SCHOOL PUPILS

THIS AGREEMENT entered into this 1* day of July, 2022 by and between the
MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT OI‘ LYCOMING COUNTY (the
“DISTRICT™) AND Jean Services of 1 ; un. PA 17771 (the
“CONTRACTOR™).

The District and the Contractor are collectively referred to as the “Parties”.
WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the District has approved the Contractor to provide pupil transportation
services for a five (5) year term; and

WHEREAS, Contractor agrees to provide such transportation services
hereinafter described; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants hereinafier contained, the Parties
agree as follows:

1.1 The term of this agreement shall commence on July 1, 2022 and shall continue through June
30, 2027. For purposes of this agreement, the term “contract year” shall mean each one-
year period commencing on July | during the term of this agreement.

2.1 For the consideration hereinafter described, Contractor agrees to provide transportation of
District students who shall be designated by the District (“Passengers™), to and from such points,
along and over such routes, and at the times set forth in the schedule to be provided before each

school year.

2.2 Contractor shall maintain all vehicles furnished by the Contractor in performance of this
agreement (“Vehicle” or “Vehicles”) in good mechanical and sanitary condition and shall meet
industry standards.

2.3 Contractor shall supply Vehicles and personnel in quantity and capacity as are required to
fulfill the District’s needs for transportation services.
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2.4 Contractor will, in the performance of the terms of this agreement, abide by all of the laws
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, rules of any regulatory or adrministrative body of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania having jurisdiction as well as all of the policies, rules, regulations
and administrative directives pertaining to the transportation of District students that the District
shall, from time to time, promulgate. In the event of any change of such laws, rules, regulations,
policies or administrative directives, Contractor agrees that it will immediately and prior to the
furnishing of any transportation hereunder, comply with the same.

n 3_ ¥ q

3.1 The District shall pay the Contractor a daily sum, to be calculated annually based on
mileage, for each day Contractor transports Passengers under this agreement. New rates will
be calculated each school year based off mileage submitted by Contractor and to be agreed upon
by both Parties. Compensation is based on the State Transportation Reimbursement Formula.
Mileage shall be determined annuaily based on Passenger need. A copy of the State
Transportation Reimbursement Formula is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. The District, in
determining “utilized passenger capacity”, will use the actual capacity of each Vehicle. The
District shall pay an increase over state formula of 102% in the first contract year, with a 1%
increase each contract year after.

3.2 Should the District operate for less than a full school year, the Contractor shall be
guaranteed compensation for at least 175 days.

3.3 Inthe event of a closure or remote learning due to an epidemic or pandemic (including the
COVID-19 pandemic), the District shall pay the Contractor 50% of the daily rate for the days
that are affected that contract year.

4.1  Passengers shall be allowed to enter or exit Vehicles only at stops designated by the District
and at the extreme right of any roadway. No Passengers shall be permitted to get on or off Vehicles
while they are in motion. No Vehicle operator (“Driver™) shall start the Vehicle or signal the driver
of any other vehicle, who was stopped in compliance with the provisions of section 3208 of the
school laws of Pennsylvania. No Vehicles shall proceed from a stopped position until each exiting
Passenger has reached a place of safety,

4.2  No person other than a Passenger shall be transported in a Vehicle except that a teacher or
other school official may ride when designated by the Superintendent or designee, No other person
or thing, except Passengers and their belongings, shall be transported in a Vehicle while it is
engaged in transporting Passengers to and from District property.

4.3 Vehicles shall come to a complete stop imunediately before traversing railway or trolley
grade crossings and shall make a complete stop at all highway intersections protected by a "stop"

sign,

44  Vehicles, including Type A Vehicles, shall not be loaded beyond the seating capacity as
set forth in minimum standards and as indicated on the "Approved School Bus Sticker." All other
public conveyances when transporting Passengers under contract shall provide adequate seating
for each student with no standing students permitted.
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4.5  Thespeed of a Vehicle shall at all times be consistent with the safety of the passengers and
shall at no time exceed the speed limit as set forth in the minimum standards of the Bureau of
Traffic Safety, Pennsylvania Department of Transportation, as promulgated from the Vehicle
Code.

LCT . 5 ]

5.1  Contractor shall employ a sufficient nurnber of qualified Drivers and support personnel
to assure District of continuous, reliable, safe, and on time service.

5.2 Contractor shall take reasonable steps to prevent its Drivers, employees, agents or
subcontractors from exposing any Passenger to impropriety of word or conduct, Contractor shall
not permit Driver or support personnel to smoke on Vehicles, to drink any intoxicating beverage,
or to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol while operating a Vehicle. Contractor shall review
with its employees providing such services under this Agreement applicable policies of the
District prohibiting improper and unlawful conduct, including by way of example and not
limitation, unlawful discrimination, harassment and intimidation, child abuse, and drug and
alcohol infractions. Copies of the District’s applicable policies are posted on the District’s
website and are incorporated into this Agreement as if fully set fort herein.

5.3  Contractor shall be responsible for hiring and discharging personnel employed by
Contractor to perform its obligations hereunder. However, the District shall have the right to
demand the removal of any Driver or support personnel from service to the District at the
District’s sole discretion, provided the District makes such request in writing and the action does
not violate applicable local, state or federal law, rules or regulations.

54  All Drivers must be approved by The District prior to operating a Vehicle and all records
and reports described in Paragraph 10.1 shall be submitted to The District prior to any
transportation services under this agreement.

5.5  Every Driver shall comply with the regulations of the Bureau of Traffic Safety of the
Pennsylvania Department of Transportation in regard to application, age, fitness, competence,
conduct, licensing, physical examination, and continuing eligibility. Drivers shall have passed
periodically administered physical examinations required by either the Public Utility
Commission, the Interstate Commerce Commission, or the Department of Transportation.

4 * H

6.1  Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, Contractor shall, at its own expense, carry and
maintain during the performance of services under this agreerent the following insurance in
amoumts no Jess than that specified herein:

a. Commercial General Liability insurance in an amount of not less than [$1,000,000], per
claim and annual aggregate, covering premises and operations, independent contractors,
bodily injury (including death), personal injury, property damage inchuding, and without
lirnitation, all contractual Hability for such injury or damage assumed by Contractor under
this Agreement. The District shall be named as additional insured as its interest may
appear under the Commercial General Liability policy of insurance;



0235

b. Workers’ Compensation in accordance with all federal and state statutory requirerents
and Employer’s Liability Insurance in an amount of not Jess than {$1,000,000] per accident
for bodily injury; and

c. Automobile Liability Insurance with a limit of not less than [$1,000,000]; Commercial
Automobile Liability insurance in an amount of not less than [$1,000,000] combined single
limit covering bodily injury (including death) and property damage for all owned, hired
and non-owned Vehicles used by Contractor. The District shall be named as additional
insured as its interest may appear under the Automobile Liability policy of insurance,

6.2  The insurance company(ies) issuing the policies for such insurance coverage must have at
least an A+ rating from AM Best. Contractor agrees to provide the District with certificates of
insurance evidencing the foregoing coverage. Certificates of insurance shall be provided to the

District prior to the commencement of the term described in Paragraph 1.1, within 10 days of any
written request by the District, and upon the renewal or amendment to any and all insurance
policies described in Paragraphs 6.1.

7.1 The Superintendent or designee in cooperation with the Contractor shall prepare an
operating time schedule. This schedule shall designate the time and place of all stops, both
morning and evening. The bus shall not depart from any designated stop before two minutes after
the scheduled time unless all pupils to be transported from that point are on board. The time
schedule may be modified by the Superintendent or designee as occasion demands but only after
due notice has been given to parents and operator.

7.2 Bus routes and bus stops shall be determined by the Superintendent or designee and may
be modified by the Superintendent or designee as occaston demands. A Driver shall not deviate
from the designated route except by written consent of the Superintendent or designee or, in the
case of an emergency, which shall be reported promptly to the Superintendent or designee. When
the same Vehicle is serving more than one school, the District shall make every effort to reconcile
the school calendars of the schools being served.

7.3 The District and Contractor will consult on a regular basis concerning the transportation
requirements of the District. Inthe event of increases or decreases the number of students requiring
transportation, or in routes and schedules, the number buses and the number of spare buses will be
adjusted accordingly.

8.1 Contractor agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the District, its governing board,
officers, employees and agents from and against every claim or demand which may be made by
any person, firm, or corporation, or any other entity arising from or caused by (a) Coniractor’s
negligence in the performance of this agreement (b) any acts or omissions of Contractor, its
employees, subcontractors, or agents in connection with the services provided hereunder; or {¢)
any breach of this Agreement by Contractor, its employees, subcontractors, or agents. In the event
of any Claim to which this indemnification/hold harmiess/defense applies, The District shall
promptly notify Contractor of such claim, provided, however, the failure to give such notice shall
not relieve Contractor from its indemnification/hold hamless/defense obligations. This
obligation shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement.
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SECTION9: FORCE MAJEURE

9.1 In the event Contractor is unable to provide the transportation services as specified in this
agreement because of any act of God, civil disturbance, fire, riot, war, terrorism, picketing, strike,
labor dispute, labor shortages, governmental action or any other condition or cause beyond
Contractor’s control, District shall excuse Contractor from performance under this agreement,

E LE

10.1  Contractor shall provide the District with copies of CDL Licenses, 8 card certifications,
annual physical exam cards, Act 34 criminal record checks, State Police Background Checks, Act
151 Child Abuse Clearances, and Act 114 Federal Criminal History checks (collectively
“Reports™), for all Drivers and as applicable, support personnel. All Reports shall be provided
to The District before any Driver commences operation of Vehicle transporting school students
or before support personnel come in direct contact with the District’s students. Additionally,
Contractor must immediately inform The District of any criminal conviction or instance occurring
subsequent to the initial District approval of each Driver or support personnel that would appear
on either a Criminal Background Check or Child Abuse Clearance Check. All Drivers or support
personnel must obiain a minimum of three (3) hours of child abuse recognition and reporting
training every five years.

10.2  Contractor agrees to furnish in a timely manner, any additional reports as may be required
by The District or its designated representatives.

11.1 This Agreement shall not be transferred or assigned, without the written consent of
The District.

12.1  The District may terminate this Agreement for *“Cause”. Termination for Cause shall mean
termination by The District of Contractor due to Contractor’s gross negligence, fraud, or any
violation of the terms or covenants set forth in this agreement.

12.2  The mutual obligations described in compensation and billing, indemnification shall
survive the termination or expiration of the agreement.

13.1 The parties agree that Contractor, and any employees, agents or contractors of Contractor
performing under this Agreement shall act in an independent Contractor capacity and not as
officers, employees, or agents of the District. Contractor’s employees shall at all times be and
remain solely the employees of Contractor, and Contractor shall be solely responsible for
payment of all of its employees’ wages, benefits, and other compensation. Contractor, without
any cost or expense to the District, shall faithfully comply with all applicable laws or regulation
involving workers’ compensation and unemployment insurance, social security and withholding
of income tax from wages, and shall indemnify and hold the District harmless from any expenses
or claims of whatsoever nature which may arise from an alleged violation of such applicable laws
or regulations.
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14.1 No failure on the part of either party to exercise, and no delay in exercising any right
hereunder, shall operate as a waiver of such right, nor shall any single or partial exercise of such
right preclude any other further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.

15,1 Except where preempted by federal law, this Agreement will be enforced, governed by,
and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, excluding any
choice of law principles that would cause the law of any other jurisdiction to be applied.

7 SEVE

16.1 In the event any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable
by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless
be binding upon the parties with the same effect as though the void or unenforceable part had been
severed and deleted.,

17.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between The Parties with respect to this
Agreement, and all prior agreements relating to the services described hereunder, express or
implied, written or oral, are nullified and superseded hereby.

18.1 This Agreement may not be modified, amended, assigned, supplemented, or rescinded, nor
any provision hereof waived, except by an instrument in writing executed by the a duly authorized
representative of The Parties hereto, which, in the case of the District, shall include only the
Superintendent.

19.1 This Agreement, and any amendment or supplement hereto, may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

20.1 Fuel shall be furnished by Contractor. If fuel costs should rise above $5.00 per gallon, the
District shall pay 50% of the amount that exceeds $5.00 which is used exclusively for
transportation of District pupils pursuant to the terms and conditions of this agreement, unless
prior approval is requested by the contractor and received.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, The Parties above named have hereto set their hands
and seals the day and year aforesaid.

CONTRACTOR

BY

Jean Services

1813 Murray Run Road
Trout Run, PA 17771
Date

ATTEST: MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
50 North Arch Street
Montoursville, PA 17754

BY BY

Secretary President
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MONTOQURSVILLE ARFA SCHOOL DISTRICT
AGREEMENT FOR THE TRANSPORTATION OF SCHOOL PUPLLS

THIS AGREEMENT entered into this 1* day of July, 2022 by and between the
MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT OF LYCOMING COUNTY, (the

“DISTRICT”) AND Campbell Bussing of ;
(the “CONTRACTOR™).

The District and the Contractor are collectively referred to as the “Parties”.
WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the District has approved the Contractor to provide pupil transportation
services for a five (5) year term; and

WHEREAS, Contractor agrees to provide such transportation services
hereinafter described; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants hereinafter contained, the Parties
agree as follows:

SECTION : TERM

1.1 The term of this agreement shall commence on July 1, 2022 and shall continue through June
30, 2027. For purposes of this agreement, the term “contract year” shall mean each one-
year period commencing on July 1 during the term of this agreement.

2.1  For the consideration hereinafter described, Contractor agrees to provide transportation of
District students who shall be designated by the District (“Passengers™), to and from such points,
along and over such routes, and at the times set forth in the schedule to be provided before each

school year.

2.2 Contractor shall maintain all vehicles fumnished by the Contractor in performance of this
agreement (“Vehicle” or “Vehicles”) in good mechanical and sanitary condition and shall meet
industry standards.

2.3 Contractor shall supply Vehicles and personnel in quantity and capacity as are required to
fulfill the District’s needs for transportation services.
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2.4 Contractor will, in the performance of the terms of this agreement, abide by all of the laws
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, rules of any regulatory or administrative body of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania having jurisdiction as well as all of the policies, rules, regulations
and administrative directives pertaining to the transportation of District students that the District
shall, from time to time, promulgate. In the event of any change of such laws, rules, reguiations,
policies or administrative directives, Contractor agrees that it will immediately and prior to the
furnishing of any transportation hereunder, comply with the same.

SECTION 3 COMPENSATION

3.1  The District shall pay the Contractor a daily sum, to be calculated annually based on
mileage, for each day Contractor transports Passengers under this agreement. New rates will
be calculated each school year based off mileage submitted by Contractor and to be agreed upon
by both Parties. Compensation is based on the State Transportation Retmbursement Formula.
Mileage shall be determined annually based on Passenger need. A copy of the State
Transportation Reimbursement Formula is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. The District, in
determining “utilized passenger capacity”, will use the actual capacity of each Vehicle. The
District shall pay an increase over state formula of 102% in the first contract year, with 2 1%
increase each contract year afier,

3.2 Should the District operate for less than a full school year, the Contractor shall be
guaranteed compensation for at least 175 days.

3.3 Inthe event of a closure or remote learning due to an epidemic or pandemic (including the
COVID-19 pandemic), the District shall pay the Contractor 50% of the daily rate for the days
that are affected that contract year,

4.1  Passengers shall be allowed to enter or exit Vehicles only at stops designated by the District
and at the extreme right of any roadway. No Passengets shall be permitted to get on or off Vehicles
while they are in motion. No Vehicle operator (“Driver*”) shall start the Vehicle or signal the driver
of any other vehicle, who was stopped in compliance with the provisions of section 3208 of the
school laws of Pennsylvania. No Vehicles shall proceed from a stopped position until each exiting
Passenger has reached a place of safety.

4.2 No person other than a Passenger shall be transported in a Vehicle except that a teacher or
other school official may ride when designated by the Superintendent or designee. No other person
or thing, except Passengers and their belongings, shall be transported in 2 Vehicle while it is
engaged in transporting Passengers to and from District property.

4.3  Vehicles shall come to a complete stop immediately before traversing railway or trolley
grade crossings and shall make a complete stop at all highway intersections protected by a "stop”
sign.

4.4  Vehicles, including Type A Vehicles, shall not be loaded beyond the seating capacity as
set forth in minimum standards and as indicated on the "Approved School Bus Sticker." All other
public conveyances when transporting Passengers under contract shall provide adequate seating
for each student with no standing students permitted.
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45  Thespeed ofa Vehicle shall at all times be consistent with the safety of the passengers and
shall at no time exceed the speed limnit as set forth in the minimum standards of the Bureau of
Traffic Safety, Pennsylvania Department of Transportation, as promulgated from the Vehicle
Code.
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5.1  Contractor shall employ a sufficient number of qualified Drivers and support personnel
to assure District of continuous, reliable, safe, and on time service.

52  Contractor shall take reasonable steps to prevent its Drivers, employees, agents or
subcontractors from exposing any Passenger to impropriety of word or conduct. Contractor shall
not permit Driver or support personnel to smoke on Vehicles, to drink any intoxicating beverage,
or to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol while operating a Vehicle. Contractor shall review
with its employees providing such services under this Agreement applicable policies of the
District prohibiting improper and unlawful conduct, including by way of example and not
limitation, unlawful discrimination, harassment and intimidation, child abuse, and drug and
alcohol infractions, Copies of the District’s applicable policies are posted on the District’s
website and are incorporated into this Agreement as if fully set fort herein.

53  Contractor shall be responsible for hiring and discharging personnel employed by
Contractor to perform its obligations hereunder. However, the District shall have the right to
demand the removal of any Driver or support personnel from service to the District at the
District’s sole discretion, provided the District makes such request in writing and the action does
not violate applicable local, state or federal law, rules or regulations.

54  All Drivers must be approved by The District prior to operating a Vebicle and all records
and reports described in Paragraph 10.1 shall be submitted to The District prior to any
transportation services under this agreement.

5.5  Bvery Driver shall comply with the regulations of the Bureau of Traffic Safety of the
Pennsylvania Department of Transportation in regard to application, age, fitness, competence,
conduct, licensing, physical examination, and continuing eligibility. Drivers shall have passed
periodically administered physical examinations required by either the Public Utility
Commission, the Interstate Commerce Commission, or the Department of Transportation.

6.1  Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, Contractor shall, at its own expense, carry and
maintain during the performance of services under this agreement the following insurance in
amounts no less than that specified herein:

a. Commercial General Liability insurance in an atount of not less than [$1,000,000], per
claim and annual aggregate, covering premises and operations, independent contractors,
bodily injury (including death), personal injury, property damage including, and without
limitation, all contractual liability for such injury or damage assurned by Contractor under
this Agreement. The District shall be named as additional insured as its interest may
appear under the Commercial General Liability policy of insurance;
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b. Workers’ Compensation in accordance with all federal and state statutory requirements
and Employer’s Liability Insurance in an amount of not less than [$1,000,000] per accident
for bodily imury; and

c. Automobile Liability Insurance with a limit of not less than [$1,000,000]); Commercial
Automobile Liability insurance in an amount of not less than [$1,000,000] combined single
limit covering bodily injury (including death) and property damage for all owned, hired
and non-owned Vehicles used by Contractor. The District shall be named as additional
insured as its interest may appear under the Automnobile Liability policy of insurance.

6.2  Theinsurance company(ies) issuing the policies for such insurance coverage must have at
least an A+ rating from AM Best. Contractor agrees to provide the District with certificates of
insurance evidencing the foregoing coverage. Certificates of insurance shall be provided to the

District prior to the commencement of the term described in Paragraph 1.1, within 10 days of any
written request by the District, and upon the renewal or amendment to any and all insurance
policies described in Paragraphs 6.1.

i : ITE i 0

7.1  The Superintendent or designee in cooperation with the Contractor shall prepare an
operating time schedule. This schedule shall designate the time and place of all stops, both
momming and evening. The bus shall not depart from any designated stop before two minutes after
the scheduled time unless all pupils to be transported from that point are on board. The time
schedule may be modified by the Superintendent or designee as occasion demands but only after
due notice has been given to parents and operator.

7.2 Busroutes and bus stops shall be deterntined by the Superintendent or designee and may
be modified by the Superintendent or designee as occasion demands, A Driver shall not deviate
from the designated route except by written consent of the Supenntendent or designee or, in the
case of an emergency, which shall be reported promptly to the Superintendent or designee, When
the same Vehicle is serving more than one school, the District shall make every effort to reconcile
the school calendars of the schools being served.

7.3 The District and Contractor will consult on a regular basis concerning the transportation
requirements of the District. Inthe event of increases or decreases the number of students requiring
transportation, or in routes and schedutes, the number buses and the number of spare buses will be
adjusted accordingly.

8.1 Contractor agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the District, its governing board,
officers, employees and agents from and against every claim or demand which may be made by
any person, firm, or corporation, or any other entity arising from or caused by (a) Contractor’s
negligence in the performance of this agreement (b) any acts or omissions of Contractor, its
employees, subcontractors, or agents in connection with the services provided hereunder; or (¢)
any breach of this Apgreement by Contractor, its employees, subcontractors, or agents. In the event
of any Claim to which this indemnification/hold harmless/defense applies, The District shall
promptly notify Contractor of such claim, provided, however, the failure to give such notice shall
not relieve Contractor from its indernification/hold harmless/defense obligations. This
obligation shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement.
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SECTION9: FORCE MAJEURE

9.1 In the event Contractor is unable to provide the transportation services as specified in this
agreement because of any act of God, civil disturbance, fire, riot, war, terrorism, picketing, strike,
labor dispute, labor shortages, governmental action or any other condition or cause beyond
Contractor’s control, District shall excuse Contractor from performance under this agreement.

10.1  Contractor shall provide the District with copies of CDL Licenses, S card certifications,
annual physical exam cards, Act 34 criminal record checks, State Police Background Checks, Act
151 Child Abuse Clearances, and Act 114 Federal Criminal History checks (collectively
“Reports™), for all Drivers and as applicable, support personnel. All Reporis shall be provided
to The District before any Driver commences operation of Vehicle transporting school students
or before support personnel come in direct contact with the District’s students. Additionally,
Contractor must immediately inform The District of any criminal conviction or instance occurring
subsequent to the initial District approval of each Driver or support personnel that would appear
on either a Criminal Background Check or Child Abuse Clearance Check. All Drivers or support
personnel must obtain a minimum of three (3) hours of child abuse recognition and reporting
training every five years,

10.2  Contractor agrees to furnish in a timely manner, any additional reports as may be required
by The District or its designated representatives.

11.1  This Agreement shall not be transferred or assigned, without the written consent of
The District.

12.1  The District may terminate this Agreement for “Cause”. Termination for Cause shall mean
termination by The District of Contractor due to Contractor’s gross negligence, fraud, or any
violation of the terms or covenants set forth in this agreement.

12.2  The mutual obligations described in compensation and billing', indemnification shall
survive the termination or expiration of the agreement.

13.1 The parties agree that Contractor, and any employees, agents or contractors of Contractor
performing under this Agreement shall act in an independent Contractor capacity and not as
officers, employees, or agents of the District, Contractor’s employees shall at all times be and
remain solely the employees of Contractor, and Contractor shall be solely responsible for
payment of all of its employees’ wages, benefits, and other compensation, Contractor, without
any cost or expense to the District, shall faithfully comply with all applicable laws or regulation
involving workers’ compensation and unemployment insurance, social security and withholding
of income tax from wages, and shall indemnify and hold the District harmless from any expenses
or claims of whatsoever nature which may arise from an alleged violation of such applicable laws
or regulations.
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14,1 No failure on the part of either party lo exercise, and no delay in exercising any right
hereunder, shall operate as a waiver of such right, nor shall any single or partial exercise of such
right preclude any other further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.

15.1 Except where preempted by federal law, this Agreement will be enforced, governed by,
and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, excluding any
choice of law principles that would cause the law of any other jurisdiction to be applied.

16.1 In the event any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable
by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless
be binding upon the parties with the same effect as though the void or unenforceable part had been
severed and deleted.

17.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between The Parties with respect to this
Agreement, and all prior apreements relating to the services described hereunder, express or
implied, written or oral, are nullified and superseded hereby.

NDMENT

18.1 This Agreement may not be modified, amended, assigned, supplemented, or rescinded, nor
any provision hereof waived, except by an instrument in writing executed by the a duly authorized
representative of The Parties hereto, which, in the case of the District, shall include only the
Supernntendent,

19.1 This Agreement, and any amendment or supplement hereto, may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

SECTION 20: FUEL

20.1 Fuel shall be furnished by Contractor, If fuel costs should rise above $5.00 per gallon, the
District shall pay 50% of the amount that exceeds $5.00 which is used exclusively for
transportation of District pupils pursuant to the terms and conditions of this agreement, unless
prior approval is requested by the contractor and received.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Parties above named have hereto set their hands
and seals the day and year aforesaid.

CONTRACTOR

BY
Campbell Bussing
2747 Murray Run Road
Trout Run, PA 17771
Date

ATTEST: MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
50 North Arch Street
Montoursville, PA 17754

BY BY

Secretary President
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Certified Public Accountants and Consultants

Board of Schaool Directors
Montoursville Area School District
Montoursville, Pennsylvania:

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, and each major fund of Montoursville Area School District (District) for the year
ended June 30, 2021. Professional standards require that we provide you with information
~about our responsibliities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
~ of America, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, as well as certain
information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated
such information in our letter o you dated May 18, 2021. Professional standards also
require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit,

Significant Audit Matters

Qualitative Aspecis of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.
The significant accounting policles used by the District are described in Note 1 to the
financial statements. As described in Note 2 to the financial statements, the District
changed an accounting policy related to fiduclary funds by adopling Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, Accordingly,
the cumulative effect of the accounting change as of the beginning of the year is reported in
Note 2 to the financial statements. We noted no transactions entered into by the District
during the year for which there is a fack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All

significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper
period. .

Accounting estimates -are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by
management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and
current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are
particularly sensitive because of thelr significance to the financial statements and because
of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were:

Single Employer Defined Benefit Other Posternployment Benefit Plan (OPEB) ~ The total
OPER fiability, related deferred inflows and outflows of resources and OPEB expense is
based on management’s estimate of future benefits. Management consults with a third-
party to determine the liability based on projected costs. We reviewed the third-party
information, as well as the estimates and assumptions utllized in the calculations. We
conclude that management's approach is reasonable.

Multiple Employer Cost-Sharing Defined Benefit OPEB Plan - The net OPESB liability,
related deferred Inflows and outflows of resources and OPEB expense Is based on
management's estimate prepared from information received from Public School Employees’
Retirement System (PSERS). We reviewed PSERS's OPEB information, as well as the
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estimates and assumptions ufilized in the calculations. We conclude that management's
approach is reasonable,

Net Pension Liability - The net pension liability, related deferred inflows and outflows of
resources and pension expense is based on management's estimate prepared from
information received from PSERS. We reviewed PSERS's pension information, as well as
the estimates and assumptions utilized in the calculations. We conclude that
management’s approach is reasonable.

Fair Value of Investments - Investments are recorded at fair value based on quoted market
prices received from a third-party. We reviewed the third-party information including key

factors and assumptions used in the estimates and determined they are reasonable in
relation to the financial statements as a whole.

The financial staternent dis‘.c:losures are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and
completing our audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements
identified during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to
the appropriate level of management. The following are uncorrected misstatements of the

financial statements. Management has determined that their effects are immaterial, both
individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole.

Generat Fund
Adjustment in the amount of $38,598 to record due from other governments.
Food Service Fund

Prior petiod adjustment in the amount of $2,947 to reclassify other operating revenues.
Custodial Funds

Prior period adjustment in the amount of $1,574 to reclassify student activities
dishursements.

In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and
corrected by management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each
opinion unit's financial statements taken as a whole.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting,
reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be
significant to the financial statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that
no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.



Management Represemtations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the
management representation letter dated March 4, 2022,

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, managemant may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing
and accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” an certain situations. If a
consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the District's financial
statements or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on
those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check
with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts, To our knowledge, there
were ho such consultations with other accountants. :

Other Audit Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles
and auditing standards, with management each year prior o retention as the District's
auditors. Howevaer, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

We applied certain limited procedures to Management's Discussion and Analysis,
Budgetary Comparison Schedula - General Fund, Schedule of Changes in the District’s
Total Other Posternployment Benefits Liabllity - District Plan, Schedule of the District’s
Proportionate Share of the Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability - Premium
Assistance Program, Schedule of the District's Other Postemployment Benefits Plan
Contributions - Premium Assistance Program, Schedule of the District's Proportionate
Share of the Net Pension Liabllity and Schedule of the District's Pension Plan
Contributions, which are required supplementary information (RS) that supplements the
basic financial statements, Qur procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit
the RSl and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RS,

Other Supplementary Information

We were engaged to report on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, which
accompanies the financial statements but is not RSI. With respect to this supplementary
information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content,
and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with
accounting principles generally accepted In the United States of America, the method of
preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and
complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled
the supplementary information fo the underlying accounting records used to prepare the
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.



Auditor Independence

Al firm professionals and administrative personnel, on an annual basis, are required to
complete an independence disclosure statement. The disclosure is designed to report any
relationships with clients that could affect our independence with respect to any client. Our
internal independence policles and procedures consider independence standards imposed
on us by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and U.S. Government

Accountabillity Office.
Restriction on Use

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of School Directors and
management of Montoursville Area School District and is not intended to be, and should not
be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Lawson KUl Al

Montoursville, Pennsylvania
March 4, 2022
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Larson, Kellett & Associates, P.C.

Certified Public Accovuntanty ond Consultants

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Schoaol Directors
Maontoursville Area School District
Montoursville, Pennsylvania:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities and each major fund of Montoursville Area Schootl District (District)
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the District's basic financial staterments as listed in
the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
staterments in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of intermnal control
relevant to the preparation and falr presentation of financial statements that are free from
roaterial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of Amerlca and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement,

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financlal statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditars'
judgment, including the assessment of the tlsks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity's intemal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We helieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appmpnate to provide
a basis for our audit opinions.

_a.
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Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities and each major fund of the District as of June 30, 2021, and the respective
changes in financial posltion, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Change in Accounting Principle

As described in Note 2 to the financial statements, in 2021, the District adopted new
accounting guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 84,
Fiduciary Activities. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management's Discussion and Analysis on page 5, Budgetary Comparison Schedule -
General Fund on page 47, Schedule of Changes in the District's Total Other
Postemployment Benefits Liability - District Plan on page 48, Schedule of the District's
Proportionate Share of the Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability - Premium
Assistance Program on page 49, Schedule of tha District's Other Postemployment Benefits
Plan Contributions - Premium Assistance Program on page 50, Schedule of the District's
Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability on page §1, and Schedule of the District's
Pension Plan Confributions on page 52 be presented to supplement the baslc financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financlal reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of Inquiries
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management's responses {o our inquiries, the basic
financial staternents, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial staternents. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
EXpress an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming apinions on the financial statements
that collectively comprise the Digtrict's basic financial statements. The Schedule of
Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented for additional analysis as required by Title 2
U.8. Code of Fedaral Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of
the basic financial statements.

The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is the responsibility of management and
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prapare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including cormparing and reconciling such information directly to the
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underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinion, the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Audfting Standards

In accordance with Government Audifing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
March 4, 2022, on our consideration of the District's internal control over financial reporting
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is salely to describe the
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
District's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Lawson RUUAE FWJ

Morntoursville, Pennsylvania
March 4, 2022



MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

The discussion and analysis of Montoursville Area School District’s (District) financial performance provides an
overall review of the Dislrict's financial activities for the fiscal vears endsd June 30, 2021 and 2020, The intent
of this discussion and analysls Is to look at the District's financial performance as a whole; readers should also
review the financial staternents and notes to the basic financial statements to enhance their understanding of
the District's financial performance.

FINANCIAL HIGHYLIGHTS

At year end, the District's total net position increased by approximately $2,130,000 from the previous year end.
The Program revenues (revenues detived directly from a program Htself or from parties outside the District's
taxpayers or citizenry, which as a whole reduce the net costs to be financed from the District's general
revenues) accounted for approximately $8.2 million or 24.7% of total revenues, and general revenues (revenues
that are not malched to specific program expenses) accounted for approximately $25 million or 75.3% of total
Fevenues.

The general fund reported a fund balance of approximately $5 milfion or 18.5% of the 2020-2021 $30.3 million
operating budget. This represents an Increase of approximately $1,029,000 from the prior year fund balance,

There are several parts to the District's financial statements. Below, Figure A-1 visually represenis how the
required parts of the Financial Section are arranged and relate to one another.

Figure A-1
Required components of
Montoursville Area School District's
Financiat Report

g L L "y
Management's Basic Required
Discussion Financial Supplementary
and Analysis Statermnents Information
e - -
Government- Fund Notes to
wide Financial the Basic
Financial Statements Financial
Statements Statements
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Figure A-2 summarizes the major features of the Disirict's financial statements, including the portion of the
District they cover and the types of information they contain. The remainder of this overview section of
management’s discussion and analysis explaing the structure and contents of each of the statements,

Figure A-2

Major Features of Montoursville Area School District's
Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

Fund Statermnents
| Govemment- Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds Fiduciary Funds |
wide Statements
Scope Entire District The activities of the Activities the District | Instances in which the
(except fiduciary Digtrict that are not oparates similar to | District s the trustee
funds) proprielary or fiduciary, | private business — | or agent fo someone
such as education, ax. Food Services #lee's rasourtes — ax,
administration andg Scholarship Funds
community services
Required financial Statement of net Balance Sheet Statement of net Staternent of duciary
statermnents position position net position
Statement of Staternent of revenues, | Statement of Statement of
activities expendifures, and revenues, expenses | revenuas, expenses,

changes in fund
balance

and changes in net
positan

Statement of cash
flows

and changes in
fiduciary net position

Accounting basis and
measurement focus

Accrual accounting
and sconomic
resources focus

Madified accrual
accounting and current
financial resources
focus

Acerugl accounting
and aconomic
resources focus

Acerual accounting
and economic
resources fotus

Type of assets and
deferred outflows of
resources and
liabilities and
deferred inflows of
rasources infarmation

Al assets and
deferred outfiows
of resources and
liabifities and
deferred inflows of
resaurces, both
financial and
capital, and short-
term and long-term

Generally assets and
deferrad outflows of
resources expected to
be used up and
liabilitias and defarrad
inflows of resourcas
that come due during
the year ar soon
thereafter; no capital
assets Indluded

All azsets and
deferrad outflows of
rasources and
liabilities and
deferred inflows of
resources, both
financial and
capital, and short-
term and long-term

All assets and
deferred outflows of
resources and
liabilities and deferrad
irflows of resources,
both financial and
capital, and short-term
and long-term

Type of inflow-
outflow infarmation

All revenues and
expenses during
year, regardiess of
when cash I3
received or paid

Revenues for which
cash s received during
or soon after the end of
the year; expenditures
when goods or sarvices
have been raceived
and payment Is due
during the year or 500n
thereafter

Alf revenues and
expenses during
year, regardless of
when cash is
recelved or pald

Al revenues and
expenses during year,
ragardless of when
cash is received or
paid
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Government-wide Statements

The governmert-wide statements report information about the District as a whole using accounting methods
simitar to those used by privale-sector companies., The statement of net position includes all of the
government's assets and liabilities, All of the current year's revenues and expenses are accounted for in the
staternent of activities regardless of when cash is received or paid.

The two government-wide statements report the District's net position and how it has changed. Net position, the
difference between the District's assets and liabilities, is one way to measure the District's financial health or
position.

Qver time, increases or decreases in the District's net position is an Indication of whether its financial health is
Improving or deterlorating, respectively,

To assess the overall health of the District, one needs to consider additional non-financiat factors, such as
changes in the District's property tax base and the performance of the students.

The government-wide financial statements of the District are divided into two categories:

Gavernmental activities — Al of the District's basic services are Included here, such as instruction, administration
and commurity services. Properly taxes, state and federal subsidies, and grants finance mast of these

activities,

Business-type activities ~ The District operates a food service operation and charges fees fo siudents, staff, and
visitors to help cover the costs of the food servica operation.

Fund Financial Statements

The District's fund financlal staternents, which begin on page 8, provide detaited information about the most
significant funds — not the District as a whole. Some funds are required by state law and by bond requirements.

Governmental funds — Most of the District's activities are reported in governmental funds, These funds focus on
the determination of financial position and change in financial pesition, not on income determination. The
funds are reported using an accounting method called madified accrual accounting, which measures cash
and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund statements
provide a detailed short-term view of the District’s operations and the services it provides. Governmental
fund information helps the reader determine whether there are more or fawar financial resources that can be
spent in the near future to finance the District's programs. The relationship (or differences) between
governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and
governmantal funds is reconciled in the financial statements.

Proprietary funds — These funds are used to account for the District's activities that are similar to business
operations in the private sector, or where the reporting is on determining net income, financial position,
changes in financial position, and a significant portion of funding through user charges, When the District
charges customers for setvices it provides — whather 1o outside customers or to other units in the District -
these services are generally reported in proprietary funds. The Food Service Fund is the District's sole
propriglary fund and is the same as the business-type activities we report in the government-wide
statements, but provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flaws.

Fiduciary funds — The District is the trustee, or fiduciary, for some scholarship and student activities funds, Alf of
the District's fiduciary activities are reported in separate Statements of Fiduciary Net Posifion on page 15.
We exclude these activities from the District's other financial staternemts because the District cannot use
these assets to finance its operations.

-53-



MONTOURSVIILE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE

30, 2021

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS

The total net position of the governmental and businass-type activities is summarized in Table A-1. Qver time

net position may serve ag & useful indicator of a government's financial position.

The largest portion of the District's total assets (83.4%) reflects its investment in capital assets. The District uses
capital assets to provide services; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Afthough
the District's investmaent in its capital assets is reparted net of relatad debf, it should be noted that the resources
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be

used ta liquidate these liabilities,

A comparative analysis of fiscal year 2020 to 2021 follows:

Tabla A-1
Comparative Analysis June 30, 2020 - June 30, 2021

Government Wide Financial Analysis - Net Position

Governmaental Business-Type
Activities Activities Totals
{Amounts expressed in thousands) 2020 2021 2020 201 2020 2021
Cument Assets $ 13269 | & 128500 | & 364 359 | § 13633 | § 12859
(Capital Assets $ 647761 & 62991 | § 223 180 | § 64998 | § 63171
Prepaid Bond Insurahce 5 781 % 71 5 781 % 71
Toted Assats $§ 781221 5 562 | § 587 1 § 53¢ | b FaT708 7610
Deferred Quiflows of Resources 8 51471 % 7665 | % 114 | % 81 5 5261 § 7,146
Currant Liabilitias 6,157 4088 | § 813 42 + & 6217 5,030
Noncurrent Liabilities § 83711 84215 | § 651 | § 452 | § B4362 | § 84667
Total Liabilities $ 89868 89203 | & 711 494 | § 80,579 b 89697
Defarred Inflows of Resources $ 52451 % a80 (8 226 | % 203 § 547N 5 4103
MNet Position;
Investad in Capital
Azsets, Net of Dabt § 200381 § 24442 1 § 223 |3 180 1§ 22481 24 622
Restricted for Capital Projects § 4049 | § 3358 1% -1 % - | % 4040 3,258
Rastrictad for Dabt Servica § -1 & -1 % - 1.5 -1 8 -1 8 0
Unrestricted {3 30031 (b 37.486)|(% 458) 1{% M (¢ 30490048 37,833)
Total Net Position (8 11844)] (3 9.786)| 3 236) 1 (§ 167) [($ 12,0800 (%  9.953)

The District reports a decrease in its restricted net position and an increase in unrestricted net position. The
District's investment in capital assets, net of debt, increased by approximately $2,161,000 (net), as a result of
equipment purchases and facility improvements during the fiscal year,
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

The District’s total net position related to governmental aclivities increased by approximately $2,057,000. Additionally,
the District’s total unrestricted net assets related to governmentat and business-type activities reflect a deficit balance
of approximately $37.8 miflion.

Table A-2 displays the govemment-wide changes in net position for both the Governmental and Business-Type
Activities.

Table A-2
Fiscal Year End Comparison June 30, 2020 - June 30, 2021
Changes in Net Pasition

Governmental Buslness-Typa
Activities Activities Total

(Amounts expressed in thousands) 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021
Revenues

Program Revenues

Charges for Services 5 198 $ 159 1 & 347 $§ 107 | % 585 $ 266

Operating Grants $ 6,312 35 7,183 % 386 $ 7731 % 6,698 $ 7,936
Total Program Revenues £ 6,610 § 7322 |§ 718 § 880 % 7,283 $ 8202
General Revenues

Properiy Taxes 512,445 $12834 1 % - $ -| $12.445 % 12,834

CHher Taxes $ 3,728 $ 4416 b - $ -1 % 3728 % 4416

Grants and Entilements § 7,785 § 7689 | &% - $ - | § 7,785 $ 7,689

Other $ 23 3 13 3 1. 5 1% 232 $ 14
Total General Revenuas $24,189 $24 952 5 1 3 11 %24,180 $24.953
Total Revenues % 30,699 $ 32274 | 5 774 5 8811 531473 $ 33,185
Expenses

Program Expenses

Instructlon $18,517 $19340 [ § - $ ~ | $ 18,517 $ 19,340
Support Services:;

Instructional Student Support $ 2462 $ 263 | § - $ - | § 2452 $ 2634

Administration $ 2,406 $ 2222 15 - $ - 1§ 2406 $ 2,222

Maintenance § 2872 $ 3150 $ - § - | $ 2872 § 3,150

Pupil Transportation 5 1,004 $ 1,133 $ - % - & 1,004 $ 1,133

Community Services $ - $ - 1% - $ -1.% - $ -

Studant Activities $ 616 $ 640 3 - -] -1 § 616 3 640

Interest and Fiscal Charges $ 1,228 5 1088 | § - £ - % 1,278 3 1,008

Other Support Services $ - $ - 1.8 . $ -1 § - $ -

Faod Service 5 - § - | § 748 $ 812 | § 748 $ Bi2

Depreciation, unallocated $ - $ - 18 - $ -1 5 - & -
Total Expenses $ 29,185 §30,217 $ 748 § 812 | $29,933 § 31,029
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Fiscal Year End Comparison June 30, 2020 ~ June 30, 2021

Table A-2

Changes in Net Position

Gavernmental Business-Type
Activitles Activities Total
2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021
Excess before fransfers $ 1,514 $ 2057 | § 26 3 601 & 1,540 § 2126
Interfund Transfers 3 - 3 - | % - 5 $ - 5 -
Change in Net Position § 1,514 $ 2057 | & 26 $ 69 $ 1,540 § 2,126

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS

At June 30, 2021, a combined fund balance of $8,265,661 is reported on the District's governmental funds
staternent; overall, this I3 2 decrease of $662,326 from the prior fiscal year.

Table A-3

Fiscal Year End Comparison June 30, 2020 - June 30, 2021
Changes In Governmantal Funds Balances

Fund Balance Fund Balance Increase
2020 2021 {Decrease)
General Fund % 3978717 $ 5008119 3 1,029.402
Capital Projects Fund
Reserved for Future Capital
Improvemnents $ 4,849,270 §_ 3,267,542 (% 1,691,728)
[ebt Service Fund $ - % - $ .
Total Fund Balance $ 8,927,987 $ 8,265661 {$ E62426)

General Fund —

Compared to the prigr fiscal year, the District's revenues and expenditures increased. This resulted in an
increase of the year end fund balance,

The increase of total revenue primarily resulted from Increases in (local revenue) eamed income tax, and
real estate tax; (state revenue) renl subsidies, and grants; as well as receiving (federal revenue) CARES Act

funds.
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Table A-4
Fiscal Year End Comparison June 30, 2020 — June 30, 2021

General Fund Revenues and Expendifures

2020 2021 Dollar Pearcent
Amount Amount Changa Change
Revenues
Local § 16,926,400 § 18,264,227 $  1,337.822 7.90 %
State F 13,044,433 $ 13,443,892 5 399,459 3.06 %
Fadearal & 611,526 5 635,819 b 24 293 3.97 %
Total $ 30,582,364 $ 32,343,938 $ 1,761,574 5.76 %
Expenditures
Instruction $ 18,111,874 5 18,646,989 3 535,015 2,95 %
Suppor Services £ B8.276,387 $ 8,797,502 % 511,115 6.30 %
Noninstructional Services $ 501,705 b 513,136 § 11,431 2,28 %
Dabt Service 3 - 5 - 5 - 0.00 %
Refund of Prior Year Rev. 5 211 % - (% 211) {100.00 %)
Capital Outlay % - § - § - 0.00%
Other Financing Uses (net) $ 345110 5 3356809 (% 99.201) {2.87%)
Total $ 30346387 $ 31,314 536 5 968,149 319 %
Excess '
Revenues (Expenditures) 3 236,977 $ 1,029,402 3 793,425 326.23 %

Capital Projects Fund -

Capital projects funds account for resources that are limited to expenditures for capital outlays, such as the
acquisition of capital faciliies and capital assets, and to make debt service payments related to those
acquigitions in accordance with Section 1431 of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Municipal Code
{Code).

The District maintaing one capital projects fund as noted below:

The District is actively preparing for unexpected as well as proposed capital projects each year. The Capital
Reserve Fund was created pursuant fo Section 1432 of the Code. Tha fund balance for this sub-category is
represented on Table A-3, noted as “Reserved for Future Capital Improvements.” During 2021, the District
early redeemed General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2014 using reserves from this fund in accordance with
Section 1431 of the Code. The purpose of the eary redemption is to reduce future interest costs of long-
term dett. The Series of 2014 bonds were originally used to advance refund the Series of 2009 bonds,
which were used to fund various capital projects of the District, The District will budget future transfers from
the General Fund to increase the reserve,

Debt Service Fund -
The Dabt Service Fund accounts for resources accurnulated to provide for the payment of ganeral long-term
debt principal and interest, Budgeted transfers from the General Fund are used to pay the Seties of 2014

GGeneral QObligation Bonds, Seres of 2015 Note, Series of 2016 General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2019
General Obligation Bonds, and Seres of 2020 General Obligation Bonds thraugh the Debt Service Fund.
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Proprigtary Fund -

At June 30, 2021, the District's sole business-type activity, the proprietary fund, reported total net position
of (§166,213). The proprietary fund records the activities of the food service program, which operates on a
break-even basis and recelves limited support from tax revenues. Food service receives both federal and
state subsidies for milk and meals, Food sarvice also receives some government commaodities on a routine
basie. The food service program was shut down from mid March 2020 through the end of the previous
school year due to schoo! closures from the COVID-19 pandemic. The foad service program operated for
the entire year during 2021, including & summer meal program. All students received free meals during
2021, regardless of financial need, due to expanded federal programs in response o the pandemic. The

majority of revenues come from federal subsidies and other users of services as displayed in Table A-5.

Table A-5
Fiseal Year End Comparison Jung 30, 2020 - June 30, 2021
Proprietary Fund Revenues and Expenditures
2020 2021 Doltar Percent
Amount Armount Change Change
Revenuas
Food Service Revenue § 377394 $ 103219 ($ 274,175) (72.65 %)
Other Operating Revenues 5 0,953 3 4,086 ($ 5,867) (58,95 %)
State Subsidies 5 48,6527 b 51,402 $ 2,875 582 %
Federal Subsidies § 337,125 $ 721,923 $ 384,798 114.14 %
Other Nonoperating Revenues $ 1,030 % 647 (% 383) {3718 %)
Total $ 774,029 $ 881,277 $ 107,248 13.86 %
Expandituras

Salaries § 146415 § 130,358 {$  16,057) {10.97 %)
Employee Benefits § 66,997 5 10,804 (3  47,103) (70,31 %)
Technical Services $ 450 $ - $ 450} {100.00 %)
Purchased Properly Services b 18,006 § 17,244 {3 757} {(4.20 %)
Management Purchased Service|]  § 407,409 $ 515164 $ 107,755 26,45 %
Supplies $ 69,476 & 81,2589 $ 11,783 16,96 %
Depraciation $ 39,028 § 42 276 3 3,250 8.33 %
Other Operating Expenses $ 5 5972 $ 5972 100,00 %
Total & 747,779 $ B12172 § 64,383 B8.61 %

Interfund transfars In 5 - 3 - & - %
Capital Contributions 5 - 5 - $ - - %
Change in Net Position $ 26,250 $ 69,105 § 42855 163.26 %

General Fund Budget

A schedule showing the District's original and final budget amounts compared with amounts actually paid and
received is provided on page 47,

The District applies for federal, state, and local grants which cannot always be anticipated in the budgeting
process. in addition, the District budgets revenues conservatively to prevent a shortfall of funds during the fiscal
year. Other unanticipated revenues also account for increases in budgeted revenues, exarmples include
ravenues from the rental of district facilities and student tuition.

Budgeted expenditures and other financing uses generally increase o offset or compensate for any additional

faderal, state, or focal grants. Transfers between specific categories of expendifuresfiinancing uses ocour near
the end of the year,
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL, DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Budgetary Reserve Is set aside to transfer for unpredictable changes in the costs of goods and services as well
as occurrences of events that are vaguely predictable during budget preparations, which nevertheless may be
required by the District during the fiscal year.

ital Assets

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Al June 30, 2021, the District had $63,170,570 net of depreciation invested in a broad range of capital assets,
including land, buildings, furniture, and equipment. Accumulated depreciation for both Governmarntal and
Business-Type activities totaled $37,123,205 at year end.
computer equipment for claasroom and remote learning.

Significant additions and disposals included

Table A-G

Fiscal Year End Comparison June 30, 2020 - June 30, 2021
Capital Asgets - Net of Depreciation

Gavernmental Business-Type increase (Decrease)
Activities Activities By Activity Type
(Amounts expressed In Thousands) 2020 2021 2020 2021 Govern. | Business
Land and Improvements $§ 1250 |% 1152 | & - i35 - 1{3 98) | & .
Buildings and Building lmprovements § 61,404 | $ 59628 | § - 18 - 1 (51.776) | § -
Furnlture and Equipment $ 2062 |8 2210 1§ 223 1% 1B0 | § 148 (¢  43)
Construction in Progress $ 59 1§ - 1% - 1% - (¢ 59 1% -
Total $ 64775 | $ 62990 | § 223 [ § 180 |($1,785) | (§ 43)

Debt Administration

During the year, the District made payments against principat of $3,935,000 resulting In outstanding debt as of
June 30, 2021 of $38,110,000; this is displayed in Table A-7.

Table A-7
Outstanding Debt Comparison June 30, 2020 - June 30, 2021
2020 2021 Increase (Decrease)
Bonds, Series of 2014 § 2,805,000 § - (§ 2,805,000)
Note, Saries of 20156 $  3.635000 § 2,520,000 {$ 1,115,000)
Bonds, Serles of 2016 $ 15,735,000 $ 15,730,000 (% 5,000)
Bonds, Serles of 2019 $ 9,980,000 $ 9,975,000 {$ 5,000%
Bonds, Serles of 2020 $ 9890000 3 5,885000 (% 5,000)
Total Debt Outstanding § 42,045,000 $ 38,110,000 {$ 3,935,000

Other obligations include net OPER liability, net pension liability and compensated absences for specific
employees of the District. More detailed Information about long-term liabilities Is included in the Notes to the
Basic Financial Statements.
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS, DECISIONS OR CONDITIONS

Public School Emplovees Retirement System

The Public School Employees Retirement System (PSERS) incurred substantial losses during the fiscal year
ending June 30, 2009. PSERS reported the actual rate of return for that period was a negative 26.54%. This
was axemplified by the fact that on June 30, 2008 net PSERS plan assets were $67.5 billion and on June 30,
2009 the plan assets had dropped to $43.2 billion. The decrease of PSERS assefs was a major contribuling
factor causing significant increases to the employer contribution rates for future years starting in the 2012-2013
school year, On November 23, 2010, Act 120 of 2010 was enacted, which included a serles of actuarial and
funding changes to PSERS as well as benefit reductions for individuals who became new members of PSERS
on or after July 1, 2011. According to PSERS, “the legisiation was designed to suppress the employer
contribution rate by using rate collars in future years to keep the rate from rising too high, too fast.” The
employer contribution rate is projected to Increase approximately 4% per year until 2016-2017, then reduce to
an annual increase of approximately 0.5% to 2.5% per year until 2021-2022,

According to PSERS: “Pension reform enacted under Act 120 of 2010 is well underway. As of December 31,
2013 approximately 13% or 35,000 of PSERS active membership is under the new reduced benefit structure of
Act 120. The annual benefit cost for new members joining the Systern is less than 3%. As the Act 1
membership grows, the annual savings from the lower Act 120 benefit cost structure will allow an increasing
amount of ermployer contributions to pay down the existing unfundad liability.

In 2009, the District established a fund balance to mitigate the anticipated increases in the PSERS employer
contribution rate. During the fiscal year the Pistrict did not use any funds to mitigate the increasing employer
pension costs and at June 30, 2021 the fund balance totaled $359,550, The District does not plan to use any of
the committed fund balance during the 2022-2023 fiscal year to mitigate the increase in the PSERS employer
contribution rate. The Digfrict contributed at a rate of 34.84% of payroll fo PSERS for the 20212022 school
year and to contribute a rate of 35.26% of payrolt for the 2022-2023 school year.

Additional information regarding this matter can be obtained from the PSERS web site (www.psers.state.pa.us)
under “Pension Funding and Act 120 Resources.”

Other than those issues listed in this Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) or in the notes to the
basic financial statements, there are no facts currently known to management that would materally impact the
financial statements either favorably or unfavorably at this time.

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The Montoursville Area School District financial report s designed {o provide citizens, taxpayers, parents,
students, investors and craditors with a general overview of the District's finances and to show the Board's
accountability for the money it receives, If there are questions about this report or additional financial information
is needed, please contact Mrs. Brandy N. Smith, Business Manager at Montoursville Area School District, 50
MNorth Arch Street, Montoursville, PA 17754, §70-363-3500,
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

GOVERNMENT-WIDE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2021
Govarpmantal  Buslnegs-Type
Activitles Activities Total
ASSETS:
CURRENT ASBETS:
Cash and cash equivalants § 0,831,768 3 258,108 % 10.090.874
Taxes racaivable, net 965,420 955,420
Dua from other govatnments 1,648,082 42,102 1,688,194
imermal balances {6,732} 26,732
Othar recaivables 29,182 24,486 53,688
Inventorias 6,301 &,301
Prepaid axpenses 84 975 54,975
‘Tolal cutrent assets 12,500,706 358,726 12,859 432
NONCLURRENT ASSETS:
Caplial agsets, not £2,89040 180,189 63,170,570
Prepaid bond Insurance 70,850 70,850
Tatal noncurrant asaels 63,061,251 180,169 63,241 420
TOTAL ASSETS 3 75561057 § 538805 £ 76,100,852
DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Dieferred Jozs on refunding dabt, net $ 8,312 ¥ 8,312
Other pastemplaymant banefits - district plan 350,402 § 10,062 360,464
Other postatmploymant benafits - premium gagistance program 2453118 2,388 250,506
Penslans 7,057 655 89,035 7,128,890
TOTAL DEFERRED CUTFLOWS OF RESQURCES § 7,664 487 § 81485 § 7,745.972
LIABHATIES:
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Dus to other govermments ¥ 20,465 ] 20,465
Avesunts payable 537,583 $ 3082 540,655
Accrued salares and benafila 3,187,046 3,787 3170813
Accrued interast payable 80,134 80,134
Current portion of noncurrent liabllities 1,155,000 1,155,000
Unearnad revenus 35,151 35,151
Other current Hablitles 17,957 283 18,220
Total currant Habilities 4,988 185 421243 E‘Dﬁﬂﬂﬂﬂ
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES;
Bands and notes payable, net 3¥,311,337 37,311,337
Accumulated compensated abisences, het 1,377,295 1,377,295
Tolal olher postemploymeant benefit lability « distict plan 171,182 9,148 1,720,340
Mot ativer postamployreant banetit liability - pramium assistance proagram 1,844,371 18,629 1,463,000
Net penston Bability 41,871,050 423 952 LA2.505 002
Total noncurrent labilitiea 84215245 451,725 84 668 974
TOTAL DARILITIES § 56,203,440 £ 493,972 § 89,687,412
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Olher postemploymant banefils - district plan § 1475661 § M9z § 1,510453
Other posternploymenl banafits - pramium assiatance program 160,536 13,188 173,724
Pensiung 2173,144 245,341 2418 486
TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES § 3800341 3 20331 $ 4,102,662
NET POSITION:
Net investriont In capital assels § 24,442,242 % 180,189 3 24,622,411
Restrictad for capital projecta 3,257,542 3,257,542
{nrastrictad {deficit) {37,486,121) (347,082) (37,833,203)
TOTAL NET POQSITION § (9.788337) $ {166 913) § (9,953 250)

Ses Notes o the Baslo Financlal Statemants

.
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2021
Total
General Capital Projects Debt Service  Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $6,574,227 $3,257.542 $ 5,831,769
Taxes receivable, net 9585 420 955,420
Due from other governments 1,646,092 1,646,092
Other recelvables 29,182 29,182
Frepaid axpanses 64,975 64,975
TOTAL ASSETS $ 9,260,800 § 3,257,642 $ $12,627,438
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES:
LIABILITIES:
Bue to other funds $ 28732 ¥ 26,732
Due to other governments 20,465 20,465
Accounts payable 537,583 537,593
Accrued salaries and benefits 3,167,046 3,167,046
Other labilities 17,867 17.957
Total liabilities 3,769,793 3,769,793
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
Unavailable revenue - delinquent property taxes 481,984 491,984
FUND BALANCES:
Nonspendable, for prepaid expenses 64,975 84,975
Restricted, by law or regulation $ 3,257,542 3,257,542
Committed, for retirement 359,550 359,550
Unassigned 4,583,594 4,583,584
Total fund balances 5,008,119 3,267,642 8,265,661
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES $ 9.269,896 $ 3,257,542 3 % 1255275438

See Notes to the Basle Financial Statements
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANGES

TO NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
JUNE 30, 2021

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds balance sheet.

These assets consist of;

Land and improvements

Buildings and building improverments

Furniture and equipment

Accumulated depreciation

Bond insurance costs are reparted as an expenditure in governmental funds
when debt is first issued. Bond insurance costs are reporied as prepaid
expenses in the statement of net position and expensed in a rational systematic
manner over the life of the related debt.

Deferred toss on refunding bonds are not current financial resources, and
therefore are not reported in the governmental funds balance shest.

Noncurrent liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the governmental funds balance shest.

These liabilities consfst of:

Accrued interest payable

Bonds and notes payable in fulure years

Accumulated compensated absences

Net other postemployment benefit liability

Net pension liabiity

Deferred inflows and outflows of resources related to other postemplayment
benefits and pensions are not current financial resources, and therefore are not
reported in the governmental funds balance sheet.

These deferrals consist of;

Other postermployment benefits

Pensions

Some of the District's revenues will be collected after year end but are not

available soon enough to pay for the current period’s expenditures, and therefore,
are deferred in the governmental funds balance shaet.

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

$ 8,265,661

2,573,483
88,768,699

7,815,011
(36,166,792)

70,850

8,312

(90,134)
(38,466,337)
(1,377,295)
(3,555,563)
(41,971,050)

(1,037,677)
4,884,511

491,984

$ (9,786,337)

See Noles to the Basic Financial Statements
-9-



MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Total
Genaral Capital Projects Debt Service Governmantal
Fund Fund Fupd Funds

REVENUES:
Local saurces % 18,264,227 & 1,174 $ 18,265,4M
State sources 13,443,892 13,443,882
Federal sources 635,819 G35,819
Total reventes 32,343,938 1,174 32345112
EXPENDITURES:
Current;

Instruction 18,648,089 18,646,989

Support services 8,797,502 B. 797 502

Noninstructional services 513,136 513,136
Capital outlay 15,055 18,056
Debt service {principal and inlerest) 1,677,847 % 3401471 5,079,318
Taotal expenditures 27,957 627 1,692 902 3,401,471 33,052,000
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 4,386 311 (1,691,728) (3.401,471) (706,888)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Interfund transfers in 3401471 3,401,471
Interfund transfers out {34471 (3,401.471)
Proceeds from sale of capital assats 15,284 15,284
Rafund of prior year ravenues {4,217) {4,217)
Proceeds from insurance recoveries 33,485 33,495
Total ather financing sources (uses) {3,356,909) ' 3401471 44 862
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES 1,029,402 (1,681,728) (562,326)
FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING 3,978 717 4,949 270 8,027,987
FUND BALANCES, ENDING $ 5,008,119 § 3,257 542 5 $ 8265661

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
~10 -



MONTOQURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT
OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES N FUND BALANCES
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS b (662,326)

Capital outlays are reported in governimental funds as expenditures. However, in the

statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated

useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which

depreciation expense, net of deletions, exceeded capital outlays in the current period. (1,784,881)

Because some property taxes will not be collected for several months after
the District's fiscal year end, they are not considered as “available”
revenues in the governmental funds. (72,200)

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financtal resources to governmeantal

funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current

financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect

on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums,

discounts and simifar items when debt is first issued, whereas the amounts are deferred

and amortized in the statement of activities. This amount is the net effect of these

differences in the treatrment of long-term debt and related items. 3,960,985

In the statement of activitlas, cerfain operating expenses are measured by the amounts
earned during the year. In the governmental funds; however, expenditures for these
items are measured by the amount of the financlal resources used (essentially, the
amounts actually paid).

These items consist of:

Compensated absences and special termination benefits (31,340)
Other postemployment benefit related costs 82,120
Pension related costs 544 473

Interest on long-term debt in the statement of activities differs from the amount reported

in the governmental funds because interest is recognized as an expenditure n the funds
when it is due, and thus requires the use of current financial resources. In the statement
of activities, howeaver, interest expense is recognized as the interest accrues, regardless

of when it is duse. 20,377
CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $ 2,067,208

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
-11 -



MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROFPRIETARY FUND
JUNE 30, 2021
Food
Service Fund

ASSETS:

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents § 269,106
Due from other funds 26,732
Due fram other governments 42,102
Other recslivables 24,486

Inventories
Total current assets

NONCURRENT ASSETS,
Capitat assets, net

TOTAL ASSETS

DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESQURCES:

Other postemployment benefits - district plan

Other posternployrent benafits - premiurn assistance program
Pensions

+0TAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES:

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable

Acerued salaries and benefits
Unearned revenus

Cther liahilities

Total current kabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:
Total ather posternployment banefit labillty - district plan

Nat pther postemploymaent benefit iability - premium assistance program

Net pension Hability

Total noncurrent Habilitlas
TOTAL LIABILITIES

PEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESQURCES:

Other postemployment benefits - district plan
Other postarmploymant benefits - premium assistance pragram
Pansians

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION:
Net investment in eapital assets
Urrestricted (deficit)

TOTAL NET RPOSITION

6,301

358,726

180,162

§ 538,895

$ 10,062
2,388

69,035

§ 814485

$ 3062
3 ey
35,151

263

42,243

9,148
18,620
423 952

451,729

§ 492972

$ 392
13,188

245,341

£ 293321

§ 180,160
(347,082)

§ (166,913)

See Motes to tha Basic Financial Statements
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXFENSES AND

MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Food

Service Fund
OPERATING REVENUES:
Food service revenue $ 103,219
Other aperating revenues 4,086
Total operating revenues 107,305
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries 130,358
Employee benefits 19,894
Purchased property services 17,249
Management fees 515,164
Supplies 81,259
Depreciation 42,276
Dues and fees 5,972
Total operating expenses 812,172
OPERATING LOSS (704,867)
NONOPERATING REVENUES:
Investment earnings 647
State sources 51,402
Federal sources 721,923
Total nonoperating revenues 773,972
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 69,105
NET POSITION, BEGINNING (236,018)
NET FPOSITION, ENDING $ (166,913)

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
-13 -



MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
FROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021
Food

Sarvice Fund
CASH FLOWS FROM OFERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash rovelved fiom ugers $ 10350
Gash recelved from other aperating reventues 1,139
Paymanis {o suppliars for gaods and services (560,177}
Paymants to employses (247,813
Net cash used by operating activities _(703.120)
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
State sources 52,165
Federal sources 604,986
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 657,761
CASH PFROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES,
Investment varnings 647
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (44,722}
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING 303,827
CASH AND CASH ECQIRIVALENTS, ENDING § 259,105
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOS8 TO NET CASH USED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating loss $ (704.887)
Adjustments to raconce aperating loss 1o net cash used by oparating activities:
Depreciation 42,278
Amortization {45,002}
Donated commodities used 76,398
Change in;
Dua to/from other funds 13
Cther recelvabies {15,870)
Inventories 16,117
Cther postamployment banalits - distriel plan defarred outflows of rasources {1.023)
Other postemployment baneiits - prarium asslstance deferred outflows of resaurces (1,809)
Pansion deferred cutflows of rezources (79,237)
Acoounts payatle 3,062
Actrued salarias and benefits 24
tInearned ravenue (23,151)
Cther liabllitias 263
Total ather postemployment benefit liabHHy - district pan (27,260)
Met other postemployment benefit ligbifity - pramium assislance program {8.101)
Net pansion ffability (164,108}
Other postemployment benafits - district plan deferred inflows of resoureas 28,095
Other pestemployment benefits - premium essistance deferred Inflows of resources 28,059
Pangion defarrad Infiows of resources 194,554
Total adjustments 1,747
NET CASH LISED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ (703,120)

NONCASH NONCAPITAL FINANGING ACTIVITIES,
The Dstdet raceived $60,282 of food cormmoditias,

See Notes to the Basic Financlal Statements
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2021

Scholarship Custodial
Trust Funds Funds
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,290 % 182,068
Prapaid expanses 9,076
TOTAL ASSETS $ 10,290 $ 191,144
NET POSITION:
Restricted for schalarships $ 10,290
Restricted for student activities $ 191,144
TOTAL NET POSITION $ 10,280 $ 191,144

See Notes to the Basic Financial Staterments
-15 -



MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCROOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDELD JUNE 30, 2021

Scholarship Custodtial

Trust Funds Funds
ADDITIONS:
Gifts and contributions $ 66,588
Student activities receipts $ 132,856
Investment income 40 444
Total additions 66,628 133,300
DEDUCTIONS:
Student activities disbursements 111,284
Scholarships awarded 60,632
Tatal deductions 60,632 111,284
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 5,996 22,016
NET POSITION, BEGINNING (As restated, See Note 2) 4,294 169,128
NET POSITION, ENDING $ 10,290 $ 191,144

Sea Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The financial statements of the Montoursville Area School District (District) have been
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAP) as applied to governmental entities. The Governmentat
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The most
significant of the District’s accounting policies are described below.

Reporting Entity

In evaluating how to define the District for financial reporting purposes, management
has considered all potential component units. The decision fo include a potential
component unit in the reporting entity was made by applying the criteria set forth in
GAAP. The criterion for including a potential component unit within the reporting entity
is the significance of their operational or financial refationship with the District, Based
upon the application of this criterion, the reporting entity will consist solely of the
accounts and funds of the District.

Fund Accounting

The District uses funds to maintain its financial records during the fiscal year. Fund
accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial
management by segregating transactions related to certain District functions or
activities, A fund is defined as a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set
of accounts. The various funds of the District are grouped into the categories
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

These are the funds through which most governmental functions typically are financed.
The funds included in this category are as follows:

General Fund

This fund is used to account for and report all financial resources not accounted for
and reported in another fund. The fund balance is available for any purpose pravided
it is expended or transferred according to the general laws of Pennsylvania.

Capital Projects Fund

This fund is used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.

Debt Service Fund

This fund is used to account for resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned
to expenditure for principal and interest.

w17 -



MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

PROPRIETARY FUND

Enterprise Fund

This fund (food service fund) is used to account for operations that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises, where the intent of the
governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods
or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered
primarily through user charges.

EIDUCIARY FUNDS

Tryst and Custodial Funds

These funds are used to account for assets held by the District in a trustee capacity or
as a custodian for individuals, The assets associated with custedial funds are held for
the benefit of student groups where the District does not have administrative or direct
financial involvement with the assets and the assets are not derived from the District
providing goods or services to the students.

Basis of Presentation and Accounting
Government-Wide Financial Statements

The staternent of net position and the statement of activities display information about
the District as a whole. These statements include the financial activities of the District
except for fiduciary funds. The statements distinguish between those activities of the
District that are governmental and those that are considered business-type activities.

The government-wide statements are prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. This is the same approach
used in the preparation of the propriety fund financial statements but differs from the
manner in which governmental fund financial statements are prepared. Governmental
fund financial statements therefore include a reconciliation with brief explanations to
better identify the relationship between the government-wide statemenis and the
staternents for governmental funds. Revenues are recarded when earned and
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardiess of the timing of related
cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are
levied. Grants and sirmilar tems are recognized as revenues as soon as all elighbility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

The government-wide statement of activities presents a comparison between direct
expenses and program revenues for the businass-type activity of the District and for
each function or program of the District's governmental activities. Direct expenses are
those that are specifically associated with a service, program or departrment and
therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include
charges paid by the recipient for the goods or services offered by the program and
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a pardicular program. Revenues, which are not classified as program
revenues, are presented as general revenues of the District, with cerain limited
exceptions. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the

-18 -



MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICY
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

extent to which each business segment or government function is self-financing or
draws from the general revenues of the District.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the
government-wide financial statements.

Fund Financial Statements

Fund financial statements report detailed information about the District. The focus of
governmental and proprietary fund financial statements is on major funds rather than
reporting funds by type. Each major fund is presented in a separate column.
Nonmajor funds, i applicable, are aggregated and presented in a single column.
Fiduciary funds are reported by fund type.

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its
measurement focus. Al governmental funds are accounted for using the current
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.
Revenues are considered to be available when thay are collectible within the current
period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this
purpose, the District considers delinquent real estate taxes and derived tax revenues
to be available if they are collected within 60 days and 30 days of the end of the fiscal
period, respectively. Unearned revenues arise when a potential revenue does not
meet both the "measurable” and "available” criteria for recognition in the current period.
Unearned revenues also arise when resources are received by the District before it
has a legal claim to them, as when grant monies are received prior to the incurrence of
qualifying expenditures, In subsequent periods, when both revenue recognition criteria
are met, or when the District has a legal claim to the resources, the liability for
unearned revenue is removed from the balance shest and revenue Is recognized.
Expenditures are recognized in the accounting period in which the fund liability is
incurred, if measurable, except expenditures for debt service, prepaid expenses, and
othar long-term obligations, which are recognized when paild. The financial statements
for governmental funds are a balance sheet, which generally includes only current
assets, current liabiliies, and defarred inflows of resources, and a statement of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances, which reports on the sources
(i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other
financing uses) of current financial resources.

The proprietary fund is accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting and the
flow of all economic resources (measurement focus). This basis of accounting and
measurement focus emphasizes the measurement of net income simitar to the
approach used by cornmercial enterprises, and revenues are recorded when eamed
and expenses are recorded when incurred. With this measurement focus, all assets
and liabilities assaciated with the operation of this fund are included on the statement
of net position. The statement of changes in net position presents increases (i.e.,
revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total posttion. The statement of cash
flows provides information about how the District finances and meets the cash flow
needs of its proprietary activities.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating

revenues and expenses which generally result from providing services and producing
and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principle ongoing
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

operations. Operating expenses for the proprietary funds include the cost of personal
and contracted services, supplies, utilites and depreciation on capital assets. All
revenues and expenses not mesting this definition are reported as nonoperating
revenues and expenses,

Fiduciary funds are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and
accrual basis of accounting.

Budgetary Procedures and Budgetary Accounting

An operating budget is adopted in each year for the general fund on the modified
accrual basis of accounting.

At the fund level, actua!l expenses cannot exceed budgeted appropriations; however,
with proper approval of the Board, budgetary transfers can be made, The budgetary
comparisan schedule presented in this report reflects the final budget authorization,
including all amendments and budgetary transfers.

The Pennsylvania School Code dictates specific procedures relative to adoption of the
District's budget and reporting of its financial statements, specifically:

¥ The District, before levying annual school taxes, is required to prepare an
operating budget for the succeeding fiscal yvear,

¥ The District is required to publish notice by advertisement, at least once, in two
newspapers of general circuiation in the municipality in which it is located, and
within fifteen days of final action, that the proposed budget has been prepared
and is avaitable for public inspection at the administrative office of the District.

¥ The Board may make transfers of funds appropriated to any particular item of
expenditure by legislative action. An affirmative vote of two-thirds of all members
of the Board is required.

* Fund balances in budgetary funds may be appropriated based on resolutions
passed by the Board, which authorized the District to make expenditures.
Appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal period. In order to preserve a portion
of an appropriation for which an expenditure has been committed by a purchase
order, contract or other form of commitment, an encumbrance is recorded.
Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are reporied as reservations of fund
balances,

¥ Included in the general fund budget are program budgets as prescribed by the
state and federal agencies funding the program. These budgets are approved on a
program by program basis by the state or federal funding agency.

¥ Capital budgets are not established for capital improvements and capital projects in
the capital projects fund. Additionally, all transactions of the capital projects fund
are approved by the Board prior to commitment, thereby constructively achiaving
budgetary control,

¥ The District does not adopt a formal budget for the proprietary fund and debt
service fund.
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Encumbrance Accounting

Encumbrances are not liabilities and, therefore, are not recorded as expenditures until
receipt of material or service. For budgetary purposes, appropriations lapse at fiscal
year-end and oufstanding encumbrances at year-end are reappropriated in the next
year, As of June 30, 2021, the District had no outstanding encumbrances.
Accordingly, no differences exist between actual results and the applicable budgetary
data presented in the fund financial statements. A reserve for encumbrances is not
reportad on the government-wide financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and liquid asset funds (Pennsylvania
School District Liquid Asset F-und), carried at cost.

The District pools cash resources of its various funds to facilitate the management of
cash. Cash applicable o a particular fund Is readily identifiable. The balance in the
pooled cash account is available to meet current operating requirements,

Investments

Investments held in the general fund consist of certificates of deposit stated at cost
which approximates fair value. For purposes of determining realized gain or loss on
sale, the cost of securities sold is determined by using the specific identification
method. The fair value of investments is estimated based on bid quotations received
from securities dealers.

The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy
established by GAAP. The hierarchy Is based on the valuation inputs used to measure
fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are
significant unobservable inputs (See Note 4).

Interfund Receivables and Payables

During the course of operations, fransactions may occur between individual funds for
goods provided or seivices rendered. These receivables and payables are classified
as “due from other funds" or “due to other funds" on the governmental funds balance
shest. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activitles and

business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as
“internal balances”.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses represent payments made by the District in the current year {o
provide services occurring in the subsequent fiscal year.

Inventories

Proprietary fund food inventories consist of food commodities donated by the federat
government, which are valued at falr value.,
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Transactions Between Funds

Legally authorized transfers are treated as interfund transfers and are included in the
results of operations of both governmental and proprietary funds,

Taxes Receivable

Taxes receivable are reported at their gross value and, where appropriate, are reduced
by the estimated portion expacted to be uncollectible. Taxes which become payable
during fiscal year 2021 and are uncollected as of June 30, 2021 are recorded as faxes
receivable in the government-wide financial statements, net of amounts estimated to
be uncollectible. Management estimates the adequacy of the allowance for
uricoliectible taxes receivable based upon the historical experience in collecting these
taxes. The allowance for uncollectible taxes receivable was $1,837 as of June 30,
2021,

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include land and improvements, bulldings and  building
improvements, furniture and equipment and construction in progress, are reported in
the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-
wide financial statements and in the fund financial statements for proprietary funds.
Capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual
historical cost is not available. Donated assefs are valued at their fair market value on
the date donated. The District defines capital assets as assets which have an original
cost of $4,000 or more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year, Repairs and
maintenance are recorded as expenses. Renewals and hetterments are capitalized.

Capital assets of the District are depreciated using the straight-line method over the
folfowing estimated useful lives:

Land improvements 20 years
Buildings and building improvements 20-50 years
Furniture and equipment 5-20 years
Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term
obligations are reported as habilities In the applicable governmental activities’ and
business-type activities' statement of net position. Long-term obligations consist of
bonds payable, direct borrowings (for example, a government entering into a loan
agreement with a lender) and diract placements (for example, a govarnment issuing a
debt security directly to an investor). Bonds payable are reported net of applicable
bond premium or discount. Prepaid bond insurance is expensed over the life of the
related debt. Other bond izssuance costs are expensed in the period incurred.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and
discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount
of debt issued is reported as other financing sources, issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service
axpenditures.
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Prepaid Bond Insurance and Amortization

The cost of prepaid bond insurance of the Series of 2014, 2016, 2019 and 2020 bonds
i5 being amortized, utilizing the straight-line method, over the life of the bonds.
Amortization expense included in the statermment of activities amounted to $7,620 for
the year ended June 30, 2021.

Bond Premium and Amortization

The premium recognized upon the issuance of the Series of 2014, 2016, 2019 and
2020 bonds is being amartized utilizing the straight-line method, over the life of the
bonds. The net premiurn has been capitalized and included in bonds payable in the
accompanying statement of net position. The net premium included in amortization
expense in the statement of activities amounted to $107,945 for the year ended June
30, 2021. .

Loss on Refinancing and Amortization

The loss recognized on the refinancing of Series of 2008 and 2010 bonds is being
amortized utilizing the straight-line method over the life of the bonds. The loss has
been capitalized as a deferred outflow of resources in the accompanying statement of
net position. Amartization expense included in the statement of activities amounted to
$74,341 for the year ended June 30, 2021,

Fund Equity

In the governmental fund financlal statements, the fund balance amounts are
classified, based on the level of constraint placed upon funds, as follows:

¥ Nonspendable - fund balance that cannot be spent because it is not in spendable
form such as inventories, prepaids and long-term loans and noles receivable
{unfess the proceeds are restricted, committed, or assigned).

¥ Restricted - fund balance includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific
purposes stipulated by constitution, external resource providers, or through enabling
legislation,

# Committed - fund balance includes amounts that can be used only for the specific
purposes determined by formal action of the Board of School Directors,

» Assigned - fund balance includes amounts intended to be used by the government
for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or
committed. The Business Manager has the authority to assign a fund balance.
There wera no amounts classified as assigned at June 30, 2021,

¥ Unassigned - fund balance is the residual classification for the government's general
fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other dassifications.

Unrestricted net position for proprietary funds represent the net assets available for
futura distribution.

The District has not adopted a minirnum fund balance policy.
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Fund Balance Flow Assumptions

The District's policy is to first apply restricted fund balance, then commitied, assigned,
and unassigned, respectively when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which
amounts in any of these classifications could be used.

Net Position

In the government-wide financial statements, net position represents assets and
deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Net
investmant in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings or deferred
inflows of resources used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those
assets and increased by any related deferred outflows of resources.

Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on its use
elther through the enabling legislation adopted by the District or through external
restrictions imposed by credltors, grantors, laws or regulations of other governments.
When the District incurs an expense for which it may use either restricted or
unrestricted net position, it uses restricted net position first unless unrestricted net
position will have to be returned because it was not used.

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outfiows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information
about the fiduciary net position of the Public School Employees’ Retirement System
(PSERS) and additions to/deductions from PSERS's fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by PSERS. For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms, investments are reported at fair
value,

Other Postemployment Benefits {OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB llability, deferred outilows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about
the fiduciary net position of PSERS and additions to/deductions from PSERS's
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
PSERS. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value,

Peferred Inflows/Qutflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position reports a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources, as appropriate. This separate financial statement
element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that
applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as an autflow of resources (Le.
expanse) until that time.
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In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and governmental funds balance
sheet report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources, as appropriate. This
separate financial statement element, deforred inflows of resources, represents an
acquisition of resources that applies to future periods and so will nof be recognized as
an inflow of resources (i.e. revenue) until that time.

Net Position Flow Assumptions

Sometimes the District will fund outlays for a particular purpose with both restricted
and unrestricied resources. 1t is the District's policy to consider restricted - net position
to have been depleted before unrestricted - net position is applied.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and

disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates,
Fair Value of Financial nstruments

The District's financial instrurments consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments,
taxes and other recelvables, accounts payable and noncurrent liabilities. The carrying
value of these financial instruments approximates their fair values at June 30, 2021.

Cash Flows

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the proprietary fund considers all highly
liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents.

2. RESTATEMENT - ADOPTION OF GASB STATEMENT NO. 84:

Effective July 1, 2020, the District implemented GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary
Activities. The objective of GASD Statement No. 84 is to establish criteria for
identifying fiduciary activities based on whether the government controls the assets of
the activity and the beneficiaries with whom a relationship exists. Activities that meet
the criteria should be reporied as fiduciary funds in the basic financial statements and
include a statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of revenues, expenses
and changes in fiduciary net position. The District reclassified its agency funds as
custodial funds and restated heginning net position for the custodial funds by
reclassifying certain liabilities due to student groups as net position - restricted for
student activities. The District now presents a statement of changes in fiduciary net
position for its custodial funds.

The cumulative effect of the restatement on beginning net position is summarized
below:

Fiduciary Activities:

Custodial Funds:

Net position, as previously reported

GASB Statement No. 84:

Restricted for student activities $169,128
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Net position, as restated $169.128
3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

GCustodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the evant of a bank failure, the District's deposils
may not be returned to it. The District does not have a policy for custodial credit risk.
As of June 30, 2021, $316,788 of the District's bank balance of $10,473 462 was
exposed to custodial credit risk as follows:

Collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution $316.788

Reconclliation to Financial Statemants
Collateralized with securities held by financial institution amount above  § 316,788

Insured amount 280,009
Plus depaosits in transit 31,803
Less outstanding checks (222,833)
Carrying amount 405,967
Plus petty cash 600
Plus pocled cash equivalents in:

General fund 6,619,123
Capital projects fund 3257547

Total cash and cash equivalents par financial statements
4. INVESTMENTS:

State statutes authorize the District to invest in obligations of the U, 8, treasury,
agencies and instrumentalities of the U. 8. govemment, deposits in savings accounts,
certificates of deposit, the Pennsylvania School District Liquid Asset Fund (FSDLAF),
commercial paper, bankers' acceptances, negofiable certificates of deposit, and
insured bank deposit reciprocals as long as certain safeguards related to credit quality
and maturity are met.

As of June 30, 2021, investments consisted of the following:

Description Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
PSDLAF - Max Serles $£3,200,038 $3,200,038

PSDLAF - Full Flex Pool 6.601,123 6,601,123

Total $9.801461 §. .  $9.801161 §

PEDLAF Is a common law trust organized to provide Pennsylvania school districts with
a convenient methad of paoling thelr cash for temporary investment. PSDLAF
functions similar to & money market fund, seeking to maintain a net asset value of $1
per share. Shares may be withdrawn at any time. Portlolio securities are valued at
amortized cost, which approximates fair value as of June 30, 2021. PSDLAF may
invest in any securities authorized by Section 440.1 of the Pennsylvania School Code.
All investments in an external investment pool that is not SEC - registered are subject
to oversight by the Commonweaslth of Pennsylvania.
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Interest Rate Risk

The District does not have a formal investment pollcy that limits investment maturities
as a means of managing its exposure o fair value losses arising from increasing
interest rates,

Credit Risk

The District does not have a formal investment policy that would fimit its investmant
choices to certain credit ratings. The Full Flex Pool Is unrated. As of June 30, 2021,
the investments were rated as follows:

Description : Standard & Poot's
PSDLAF - Max Series AAAm

Concentration of Credit Risk

The District places no limit on the amount the District may invest in any one issuer.
The District has no investments subject to concentration of credit risk.

Custodial Credit Risk

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the fatlure of the
counterparty, the District will not be able to recover the value of its investments or
collateral security that are in the possession of an outside party. The District has no
investments subject to custodial credit risk.

Reconciliation to Financial Statements

Tatal investments per abave $ 9,801,161
Less deposits in Investment pool considered cash equivalents (9,801,161)
Total investments per financial statements b

REAL ESTATE TAXES:

The tax on real estate, as levied by the School Board, was 16,23 mills ($16.23 per
$1,000 of assessed valuation) for fiscal year 2021. The original assessed value at July
1, 2020, upon which the 2021 levy was based was $823,351425. Assessed
valuations of property are determined by Lycoming County and the elected tax
collectors are responsible for collection. The schedule for real estate taxes levied for
each fiscal year is as follows:

July 1 Levy Date

July 1 - August 31 2% Discount Period
September 1 - October 31 Face Paymeni Period
November 1 - December 31 10% Penalty Period
January 1 : Lien Date
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Current tax collections for the year ended June 30, 2021 were 96.2 % of the tax levy.
Estimated collectible delinquent real estate taxes at June 30, 2021 amounted to

$628,834.
. PUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS;

Amounts due from other governments represent receivables for revenues earned by
the District or collections made by another governmental unit on behalf of the District.
At June 30, 2021, the following amounts are due from other gavernments:

General Fund  Proprietary Fund Total
Federal $ 428904 $40,538 $ 469,442
State 1,096,447 1,564 1,098,011
Local 120,741 120,741
Total £42.102

. INTERFUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITY:

As of June 30, 2021, interfund receivables and payables that resulted from various

interfund transactions were as follows:

Due from Due to
Other Funds Other Funds
General fund $26,732
Food service fund $26,732
Total $26.732 $26.732
. CAPITAL ASSETS:
A summary of changes in capital assets Is as fallows:
Balance Balance

July1,2020  Additions Deletions  June 30, 2021
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES:
Capllat assets, not being depreciated:
Land § 1B4579 $ 184,579
Construction in progress 58 BRO 5 8900 ¥ 67780
Totat capital assels, nof belng depreciated 243 459 8,900 67,780 184,578
Capital assets, being depreciated:;
Land improvements 208,804 2,388,904
Buildings and buitding improvernents 88,693,867 74,832 B8, 768,699
Furmititre and equipment 7,411,808 601,120 187,917 7.815011
Total capital assets, boing depreciated 28 494 5789 575,852 Jar.e7 98,972 614
Less accumulated depreciation:
Land improvaments 1,323,402 o7 757 1,421,159
Bulidings and building improvements 27,289,813 1,850,366 29,140,279
Furniture and equipment 5348 441 431,718 175,808 5,605,354
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Baiance

Balance

Jduly 1, 2020 Additions Deletlons Jung 30, 2021
Total accumulsted depreciation $33,962 756 5 2379849 $175.805 136,166,792
Total capital assets, being depreciated, nat 64,531 823 fLro3ase) 22112 2 805,822
Governmental activities capital assets, net §64,775.282 ${1.694.089)  § 89,892 $62.990.401
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES:
Capital assets, heing deprectated;
Furniture and equipment § 1,436,582 1,136,582
Less accumulated depraciation 914,137 $ 42278 856,413
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 222,445 (42,278) 180,169
Business-type aciivities capital assets, net $ 220445 B (42 276) g 180169
Depreciation expense was charged to governmeantal activities as follows:
Instruction $1,202,338
Instructional student support services 233,426
Administrative and financial support services 31,380
Operation and maintenance of plant services 769,799
Pupil transportation 4,136
Student activitias 138,762
Total $2.379.841

. COMPENSATED ABSENCES:

Retlrement Severance Benefit

An administrator, tpon permanent retirement from the field of public education, is paid
$60 for each unused sick day accumulated by the employee, subject fo certain
limitations. Professional employess upon retirement with 15 years of service with the
District receive a non-elective employer contribution to their 403(b) or 457 refirement
plan, in the amount of $775 for each year of service, not to exceed a total of 35 years.
Non-professional employees upon retirement are paid $50 for each year of service, not
to exceed a total of 26 years and those with 10 years of service with the District, will be
pravided $30 for each unused sick day subject to certain limitations. At June 30, 2021,
the estimated liability for accurnulated retirement severance benefit due upon
retirement or termination of certain administrators, professional, and non-professional
employees was $1,377,295. This liabilily has been recorded in accumulated
compensated absences in the government-wide statement of net position. For the
éear ended June 30, 2021, the District made payments amounting to approximately
122,000,
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10. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEBE):
Single Employer Defined Benefit OPEB Plan
Plan Description

The District's OPEB benefits include a single employer defined benefit plan that
provides pastretirernent healthcare benefits. The School Board has the authority to
establish and amend benefit provisions. No assets are accumulated in a trust that
meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75. The plan does not issue
any financlal report and Is not included In the report of any public employee retirement
system or any other entity.

Teacher and administrative retirees who retire with at least 30 years of public school
service in Pennsylvania or upon superannuation retirement are eligible to receive
benefits up to Medicare age. Teachers and administrative employees may also gualify
by retiring with 25 years of public school service In Pennsylvania once they have
attained the age of 55 for teachers and administrators. The employee also shall have
completed 15 years of service with the District. Retired professional employees who
are ineligible under the above requirements and choose to participate in the medical
plan must pay the appropriate insurance premium of a tiered rate structure.

Benefits Provided

The plan provides post-retirement medical, prescription drug, and dental benefits. The
cost of such medical and dental coverage for retirees and spouses is determined by
the contract provisions at the time of retirement.

Employees Coverad by the Benefit Terms

At July 1, 2020, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation, the following
employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Active participants 146
Retired participants s
Total 161

Funding Policy

The contribution requirements of plan members and the District are established and
may be amended by the School Board. The plan is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis,
l.e. premiums are paid annually fo fund the healthcare benefits provided to current
retirees. Retiree contribution rates and amounts vary depending on classification and
years of service with the District. The District paid premiums of 2pproximately $43,000
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. The retiree contributions made by plan
members were approximately $117,000 for the year ended June 30, 2021.
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Total OPEB Liability, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

At June 30, 2021, the District reported a total OPEB Hability of $1,720,340. The total
OPERB liability was measured as of July 1, 2020, and determined by an actuarial
valuation as of July 1, 2020

The District's change in its tofal OPEB liability for the year ended June 30, 2021 was

as follows:
Total

OPEB

Liabilit
Balance as of July 1, 2020 (based on measurernent date of July 1, 2019) $1.790. 767
Changes for the year:
SBearvice cost 56,941
Interest 61,575
Changes of benefit terms (1,347}
Difference between expacted and actual experience (410,576}
Changes of assumptions 276,273
Benafit payments 3,203)
Net change 70,427)
Balance as of June 30, 2021 (based on measurament date of July 1, 2020) 31,720,340

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the District recognized OPEB expense in the
government-wide financial statements as follows:

Governmental activities 3(101)
Business-type activities .88
Total 557

Al June 30, 2021, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows  Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual
experiance $ 686,940
Changes in assumptions $298,200 823,513
Benefit payments subsequent to the
measurement data 62,264
Total $360.464 $1.510483
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$62,264 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from
District benefit payments subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
reduction of the total OFER liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:;

Year ended June 30:

2022 $(147,114)
2023 {147,111)
2024 (147,114}
2025 (147,113}
2026 (147,115)
Thereafter (476,686)

Actuarial Assumptions

The total OPEB liability at July 1, 2020 was determined by rolling forward the plan’s
fotal OFEB hHability at July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2020 using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

¥ Actuarial cost method - entry age normal

¥ Discount rate - 1.86% - S&P municipal bond 20-year high grade rate index at July 1,
2020. The discount rate changed from 3.36% to 1.86%.

* Salary growth - 2.5% cost of living adjustment, plus 1% real wage growth; and for
teachers and administrators a merit increase which varies by age from 2.76% to 0%.

* Percent of eligible retirees electing coverage - 100% of administrators eligible for a
subsidy, 75% of administrators and teachers not eligible for a subsidy, and 50% of
support staff; previously, assumed 65% of administrators and teachers not eligible
for a subsidy.

¥ Percent married at retirement - 10% of employaas,; previously, assumed 20%.

¥ Healthcare cost trends - 5.5% in 2020 through 2023, gradually decreasing from
5.4% in 2024 to 4.0% In 2075 and later based on the Society of Actuaries Long-Run
Medical Cost Trend Model.

¥ Mortality rates were based on the RP-20114 Mortality Tabies for Males and Females,
adjusted to reflect experience and projected using a modified verslon of the MP-
2015 Mortality Improvement Scale.

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

The following presents the total OPEB liability for June 30, 2020, calculated using
current healthcare cost trends as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if
health cost trends were 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the
current rate:

Current
1% Trend 1%
Decrease Rate increase
Total QPER liability {in thousands) $1,543 $1,720 $1,929
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Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability o Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the total OPEB liability, calculated using the discount rate of
1.86%, as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a
discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (0.86%) or 1-percentage point higher
(2.86%) than the current rate:

Current
1% Discount 1%
Decrease Rate Increase
0.86% 1.86% £:86%
Total OPEB liability (in thousands) $1.835 §1,720 $1,610

Muitiple Employer Cost-Sharing Defired Benefit OPEB Plan
Health Insurance Premium Assistance Program

PSERS {System) provides Premium Assistance which, Is a governmental cost sharing,
multiple-employer OPEB plan for all eligible retirees who qualify and elect to
participate. Employer contribution rates for premium assistance are established to
provide reserves in the health Insurance account that are sufficient for the payment of
premium assistance benefits for each succeeding year. Effective January 1, 2002
under the provisions of Act 9 of 2001, participating eligible ratirees are entitled to
receive premium assistance payments equal to the lesser of $100 per month or their
out-of-pocket monthly health insurance premium. To recelve premium assistancs,
eligible retirees must obtain their health insurance through either their school employer
or the PSERS' health options program (HOP). As of June 30, 2020, there were no
assumed future benefit increases to participating eligible refirees.

Premium Assistance Eligibility Criteria

Retirees of the System can participate in the Premium Assistance program if they
satisfy the following criteria:

¥ Have 24% or more years of service, or

> Are a disabllity retiree, or

» Have 15 or maore years of service and retired after reaching superannuation age,
and

* Participate in the HOF or employer-sponsored health insurance program.

Pension Plan Description

PSERS is a governmental cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
that provides retirement benefits to public school employees of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, The members eligible to participate in the System include all full-time
public schoo! employees, part-time hourly public schoo! employees who render at least
500 hours of setvice in the school year, and pari-time per diem public school
employees who render at least 80 days of service in the school year in any of the
reporting entities in Pennsylvania. PSERS issues a publicly avallable financial report
that can be obtained at www.psers.pa.gov.
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Benefits Provided

Participating eligible retirees are entiled to receive premium assistance payments
equal to the lesser of $100 per month or their out-of-pocket monthly health insurance
premium, To receive premium assistance, eligible retirees must obtain their health
insurance through either their school employer or the PSERS' Health Options
Program. As of Jupe 30, 2020, there were no assumead future benefit increases to
participating eligible retirees.

Empioyer Contributions

The schoal districts’ contractually required contribution rate for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2021 was 0.82% of covered payroll, actuarially determined as an amount
that, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of
benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance
any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to the OPEB plan from the District were
$98,637 for the year ended June 30, 2021.

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferrad
Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

At June 30, 2021, the District reported a labilty of $1,863,000 for its proportionate
share of the net OPEB liability. The net OPEB Hability was measured as of June 30,
2020, and the total OFEB liability used fo calculate the net OPEB Kabllity was
detarmined by rolling forward the System's total OPER liability as of June 30, 2019 to
June 30, 2020. The District's proportion of the net OPER liability was calculated
utilizing the employer’s one-year reported covered payroll as it relates to the total one-
year reported covered payroll. At June 30, 2021, the District's proportion was 0.0862%,
which was an increase of 0.0024% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2020.

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the District recognized OPEB expense in the
government-wide statement of activities as follows:

Governmental activities $75,483
Business-type activities 2.464)
Total $73.019

The amounts above include $3,194 of amortization of changes in proportion between
governmental activities and business-type activilies for the year ended June 30, 2021.

At June 30, 2021, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Peferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual
axperience $ 17,138
Changes in assumptions 75,902 $ 40,863
Net difference between projected and actual
investmant eamings 3.215
Changes in propartion 43,714 121,143

-84 -



MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Changes in proportion between governmental

activities and business-type activities £ 11,5606 $ 11,566
Difference between employer contributions

and praportionate share of total contributions 334 152
Cantributions subsequent to the measurement

date 98,637
Total £250,506 $173.724

$98,637 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
reduction of the net OPER liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2022 ${16,144)
2023 (16,610)
2024 (17,020)
2025 (3,872)
2026 18,811
Thereafter 12,980

Actuarial Assumptions

The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2020, was determined by rolling forward the
Systemn's total OPER liability as of June 30, 2019 fo June 30, 2020 using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measuremant:

* Actuarial cost method - entry age normal - level % of pay.

# Investment return - 2,66% - S&P 20 year municipal bond rate.

¥ Salary growth - effective average of 5.00%, comprised of inflation of 2.75% and
2.25% for real wage growth and for merit or seniority Increases.

* Premium assistance reimbursement is capped at $1,200 per year,

» Assumed healthcare cost trends were applied to retirees with less than $1,200 in
premium assistance per year,

» Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males and Females,
adjusted to reflect PSERS’ experience and projected using a modified version of the
MP-2015 Mortality Improvement Scale.

* Participation rate:

+ Eligible retirees will elect to participate pre age 85 at 50%
*  Eligible refirees will elect to participate post age 65 at 70%

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the

results of an actuarial experience study that was parformed for the five year period
ending June 30, 2015,
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The following assumptions were used to determine the contribution rate:

¥ The results of the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018 determinad the employer
contribution rate for fiscal year 2020,

¥ Cost Method: amount necessary to assure solvency of premium assistance through
the third fiscal year after the valuation date.

» Asset valuation method: market value.

* Participation rate: 63% of eligible retirees are assumed to elect premium assistance.

¥ Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males and Females,
adjusted to reflect PSERS' experience and projected using a madified version of the
MP-2015 Mortality Improvement Scale,

Investments consist primarily of short term assets designed to protect the principal of
the plan assets. The expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was
determined using the OPEB asset allocation policy and best estimates of geomatric
real rates of return for each asset class.

The OPEB plan's policy In regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is
established and may be amended by the PSERS Board. Under the program, as
defined in the retirement code employer contribution rates for prerium assistance are
established to provide reserves in the health Insurance account that are sufficient for
the payment of premium assistance benefits for each succeeding year.

tong-Term
Target Expected Real

Allocation Rate of Return
Asset Class:
Cash 50.3% (1.0%)
US Core Fixed Income 46.5% (0.1%)
Non-US Developed Fixed 3.2% (0.1%)
Total 100.0%

The above was the PSERS Board's adopted asset allocation policy and best estimates
of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2020.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the Total OPEB Liability was 2.66%. Under the
plan's funding policy, contributions are structured for short term funding of premium
assistance. The funding policy sets contribution rates necessary to assure solvency of
premiurm assistance through the third fiscal year after the actuarial valuation date. The
prermium assistance account is funded to establish reserves that are sufficient for the
payment of premium assistance benefits for each succeeding year. Due to the short
term funding policy, the OPER plan's fiduciary net position was not projected to be
sufficient to meet projected future benefit payments, therefore, the plan Is considered a
‘pay-as-you-go” plan. A discount rate of 2.66% which represents the S8P 20 year
municipal bond rate at June 30, 2020, was applied to all projected benefit payments to
measure the total QPEB liability.
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Sensitivity of the System Net OPEB Liability to Change in Healthcare Cost Trend
Rates

Healthcare cost trends were applied to retirees recelving less than $1,200 in annual
premium assistance, As of June 30, 2020, retirees premium assistance benefits are
not subject to future healthcare cost increases, The annual premium assistance
reimbursement for qualifying retirees is capped at a maximum of $1,200. As of June
30, 2020, 93,693 retirees were receiving the maximum amount allowed of $1,200 per
vear. As of June 30, 2020, 688 members were receiving less than the maximum
amount allowed of $1,200 per yvear. The actual number of retirees receiving less than
the $1,200 per year cap is a small percentage of the total population and has a minimal
impact on healthcare cost trends as depicted below.

The following presents the System net OPEBR liability for June 30, 2020, calculated
using current healthcare cost trends as well as what the System net OPEB liability
would be if health cost frends were 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point
higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Trend 1%
Decrease Rate InGraase
District's proportionate share of the
net OPEB liability (in thousands) 1,862 51,863 $1,863

Sensitivity of the District's Proporfionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in
the Discount Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability, calculated using the discount rate of
2.66%, as well as what the nat OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a
discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (1.66%) or 1-percentage point higher
(3.66%) than the current rate:

Current
1% Discount 1%
Decrease . Rate Increase
1.66% 2.66% 3.66%
District’s proportionate share of the
net OPEB liability (in thousands) 2124 $1,863 $1,646

OPER Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about PSERS' fiduciary net position is available in PSERS
comprehensive annual financial report which can be found on the System’s website at
WWW.DSETS.pa.gov.

Payables to the OPEB Plan

At June 30, 2021, the District had an accrued balance due to PSERS, inciuding
contributions related to OPEB of $29,227. This amount represents the District's
contractually obligated contributions for wages earned in Aptlt 2021 through June
2021, The balance was paid in September 2021,
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11, NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:

The following Is a summary of changes in the governmental and business-type
activities noncurrent liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2021:

Amounts
Balance Batance Due in
July 1, 2020 Additions Refiraments  Amodization  June 30, 2021 Qna Year
Governmantal
Activities:
Ganeral obligation
bonds $38,410,000 $2,820,000 $35,590,000 $ 15,000
MNotes from direct
borrowings and
direct placements 3,635,000 1,116,000 2,520,000 1,140,000
Plus deferred
net bond
premiurm 464,282 3(107.945) 356,337
Total deht, net 42,600,282 3,935,000 {107,945} 38,466,337 1,155,000
Compensated
Absences 1,345,958 § 153,020 121,680 1,377,295
Totat OPER liability 1,754,359 43,167 1,711,182
Nat QOPER Hability 1,755,270 89,101 1,844,371
Net pension Hability 38,615,040 3,355,110 41,971,050
Total $85.580,806 3,090,431 $4.090.847  $(107.945) $B85,370.245 §1.152.000
Business-Type
Activitios:
Total OPEB liability $ 36,408 ¥ 27260 % 8,148
Net OFEB kahility 26,730 L BOS 8,910 18,629
Net pension lizbitity 588,060 31912 196,020 423 952
Total § 651,198 $..32.741 d.232400 S £ 451729 &
General obligation bonds and notes from direct borrowings and direct placements payable
at June 30, 2021 are comprised of the following:
Notas from Direct
Borrowings and
Bonds Direct Placements Total
Series of 2016, due In varying instaliments
through June 2036, with interest rates ranging
from 2.0% to 4.0% per annum. $15,730,000 $16,730,000
Series of 2015, due in varying installments
through May 2023, with interest of 2.17% per
BNNLET. $2,520,000 2,520,000
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12.

Notes from Direct
Borrowings and

Bonds Direct Placements Total
Series of 2019, due in varying installments
through June 2036, with interest rates ranging
from 1.5% to 3.0% per annum, $ 9,975,000 $ 9,975,000
Series of 2020, due in varying installments
through June 2036, with interest rates ranging
from 1.4% to 4,0% per annum, 9,885 000 9,885,000
Total 35,590,000 $2,520,000 38,110,000
Less amounts due in one year 15,000 1,140,000 1,165,000
Plus deferred bond premiurm 56,33 356,337
Noncurrent portion of general obfigation
bonds and notes payable $35.931.337 $1.380.000 37,311,337

The annhual requiremeants to amortize general obligation bonds and notes from direct
borrowings and direct placements payable at June 30, 2021 are as follows:

Notes from Direct Borrowings

Bonds and Dire¢t Placaments
Erincipat intarest Principal {nterest
2022 $ 15000 51,025,024 $1,140,000 $54,654
2023 355,000 1,024,779 1,380,000 29,046
2024 1,780,000 1,017,701
2025 2,400,000 949,101
2026 2,475,000 B6G,701
2027 - 2031 13,510,000 3,202,806
7032 - 2036 15,055,000 1.314 899
Total $35,590.000 $9.401.011 $2.520.000 $84.630

The total interest expense related to the general obligation bonds and notes from direct
borrowings and direct placements payable for the year ended June 30, 2021 amounted
to $1,097,956. No interest expense was capitalized during the year ended June 30,
2021,

PENSION BENEFITS:
Plan Description

PSERS (System) Is a govermental costsharing multi-employer defined benefit
pension plan that provides retirement benefits to public school employees of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The members eligible to paricipate in the System
include all full-time public school employees, part-time hourly public school employees
who render at least 500 hours of service in the school year, and part-time per diem
public school employees who render at least 80 days of service in the school year in
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any of the reporting entities in Pennsylvania. PSERS issues a publicly available
financial report that can be obtained at www.psers.pa.gov.

Benefits Provided

PSERS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Members are eligible for
monthly retirement benefits upon reaching (a) age 82 with af least 1 year of credited
service; (b) age 60 with 30 or more years of credifed service; or (¢) 35 or more years of
sarvice regardless of age. Act 120 of 2010 (Act 120) preserves the benefits of existing
members and introduced benefit reductions for individuals who become new members
on or after July 1, 2011. Act 120 created two new membership classes, Membership
Class T-E {Class T-E) and Membership Class T-F (Class T-F). To qualify for normal
retirement, Class T-E and Class T-F members must work until age 65 with a minirmum
of 3 years of service or attain a total combination of age and service that is equal to or
greater than 92 with a minimum of 35 years of service. Benefits are generally equat to
2% or 2.5%, depending upon membership class, of the member's final average salary
(as defined in the Code) multiplied by the number of years of credited service. For
members whose membership started prior to July 1, 2011, after completion of five
years of service, a member's right to the defined benefits is vested and early
retirement benefits may be elected. For Class T-E and Class T-F members, the right
to benefits is vested after ten vears of service.

Participants are eligible for disability retirement benefits after completion of five years
of credited service. Such benefits are gaenerally equal to 2% or 2.6%, depending upon
membership class, of tha member's final average salary (as defined in the Code)
multiplied by the number of years of credited service, but not less than one-third of
such salary nor greater than the henefit the mermber would have had at nomal
retiremert age. Members over normal retirement age may apply for disability benefits,

Death benefits are payable upon the death of an active member who has reached age
62 with at least one year of credited service (age 65 with at least three years of
credited service for Class T-E and Class T-F members) or who has at least five years
of credited service {ten years for Class T-E and Class T-F members). Such benefits
are actuarially equivalent to the benefit that would have been effective if the member
had retired on the day before death,

Member Contributions

Active members who joined the System prior to July 22, 1983, contribute at 5.25%
(Membership Class T-C) or at 6.50% (Membership Class T-D} of the member's
qualifying compensation.

Members who joined the System on or after July 22, 1983, and who were active or
inactive as of July 1, 2001, contribute at 6.25% (Membership Class T-C) or at 7.50%

(Membership Class T-D) of the member's qualifying compensation.

Members who joined the System after June 30, 2001 and before July 1, 2011,
contribute at 7.50% ({automatic Membership Class T-D). For all new hires and for
members who elected Class T-D membership, the higher contribution rates began with
service rendered on or after January 1, 2002,
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Members who joined the System after June 30, 2011, automatically contribute at the
Membership Class T-E rate of 7.5% (base rate) of the member's qualifying
compensation. All new hires after June 30, 2011, who elect Class T-F membership,
contribute at 10.3% (base rate) of the member's qualifying compensation.
Membership Class T-E and Class T-F are effected by a "shared risk” provision in Act
120 of 2010 that in future fiscal years could cause the Membership Class T-E
contribution rate to fluctuate between 7.5% and 9.5% and Membership Class T-F
contribution rate to fluctuate between 10.3% and 12.3%.

Employer Contributions

The schaol districts’ contractually required contribution rate for fiscal year ended June
30, 2021 was 33.51% of covered payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that,
when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of
benefits eamed by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance
any unfunded accrued liability, Contributions to the pension plan from the District were
$4,052,535 for the year ended June 30, 2021.

Pension Liabilittes, Pension Expense, and Deferred Quiflows of Resources and
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related {o Pensions

At June 30, 2021, the District reported a liabllity of $42,395,002 for its proportionate
share of the net pension liability in the government-wide statement of net position. The
net pension flability was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by rolling forward the
System's total pension liability as of June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020, The District's
proportion of the net pension Eability was calculated utilizing the employer's one-year
reporied contributions as it relates to the total one-year reported contributions, At June
30, 2021, the District's proportion was 0.0861%, which was an increase of 0.0023%
from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2020.

For the year ended Juna 30, 2021, the District recognized pension expense in the
govarnment-wide staternent of activities as follows:

Governmenta! activities $3,467,537
Business-type activities (53,603)
Total $3.413.94

The amounts above include $87,742 of amortization of changes in proportion between
governmental activities and business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2021,

At June 30, 2021, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows  Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual
exparience $ 110,906 $1,016,005
Net difference between projected and actual
investment earmings 1,863,196
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Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Changes in proportion § 833,250 $1,175.000
Changes in proportion between governmental

activities and business-type activilies 223,390 2233480
Difference between employer contributions

and proportionate share of total contributions 43,413
Contributions subsequent to the measurement

date 4,052 535
Total $7.126.690 $2.418485

$4,052,635 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting
frorn District contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as
a raduction of the net pension lability in the year ended June 30, 2022, Other
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2022 $(1,066,641)
2023 341,458
2024 827,338
2025 553,515

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension lability at June 30, 2020 was determined by rolling forward the
System's total pension liability at June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020 using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

¥ Actuarial cost method - entry age normal - level % of pay

¥ investment return - 7.25%, includes inflation at 2.75%

> Salary growth ~ an effective average of 5.00%, comprised of inftation at 2.75% and
2.25% for real wage growth and for merit or seniority increases.

* Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males and
Females, adjusted to reflect PSERS' experience and projected using a modified
version of the MP-2015 Mortality Improvement Scale.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2020 valuation were based on the
results of an actuarial experience study that was performed for the five year period
ending June 30, 2015,

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined
using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real
rates of return (expected returns, nat of pension plan investment expense and inflation)
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the
long-term expected rate of return by welghting the expected future real rates of return
by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expacted inflation.

The pension plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is
established and may be amended by the PSERS Board. Plan assets are managed
with a long-term objective of achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the
benefits provided through the pension.
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Long-Term
Target Expected Real

Allocation Rate of Return
Asset Class:
Global public equity 15.0% 5.2%
Private equity 15.0% 7.2%
Fixed incoms 36.0% 1.1%
Commodities 8.0% 1.8%
Absolute return 10.0% 2.5%
Infrastructure/MLPs 6.0% 5.7%
Real Estate 10.0% 5.5%
Risk parity 8.0% 3.3%
Cash 6.0% (11.0%)
Financing (LIBOR) {14.0)% (0.7%)
Total 100.0%

The above was the PSERS Board's adopted asset allocation policy and best estimates
of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2020.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%. The
projection of cash flows used fo determine the discount rate assumed that
contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rate and that
contributions from employers wili be made at contractually required rates, actuarially
determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments fo determine the
total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes
in the Discount Rate |

The following presents the net pansion liability, calculated using the discount rate of
7.25%, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a
discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower {6.25%) or 1-percentage-point higher
(8.25%) than the current rate:

1% Discount 1%
Decrease Rate increase
B8.25% 71.25% 8.25%
District's proportianate share of the
net pension fiability (in thousands) $52,451 $42,205 %33,876

Pension Plan Fiduclary Net Position
Detailed information about PSERS' fiduciary net position is available in PSERS

comprehensive annual financial report which can be found on the Systaern's website at
WWW.ISErs.pa.gov.
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13.

14.

Payables to the Pension Plan

At June 30, 2021, the District had an accrued balance due to PSERS, including
contributions related to pension of $1,205,097, This amount represents the District's
confractually obligated contributions for wages earmed in April 2021 through June
2021. The balance was paid in September 2021,

RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK:
Risks and Uncertainties

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, economic uncerttainties have arisen which
could negatively impact revenues and changes in net position.

Management has assessed the impacts of the pandemic on the estimates and
assumptions that affect the reporied amounts and related disclosures. If economic
conditions caused by the pandemic do not improve, the District's financial condition,
cash flows and changes in net position may be impacted.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The District provides education and related services to the residents of Montoursville,
Pennsylvania and surrounding boroughs and townships. Its service area Is located
within the geographic boundaries of the District. The District assesses taxpayers,
within its service area, based upon taxing powers at its disposal. The ability of each of
the District’s taxpayers to honor their assessed obligations to the District is dependent
upon economic and other factors affecting the taxpayers.

CONTINGENCIES:
Grants

The District participates in both state and federally assisted grant programs. These
programs are subject to program compliance audits by the grantors or their
representatives. The District is potentially liable for any expenditures which may be
disallowed pursuant fo the terms of these grant programs. It is the opinion of
management that requests for reimbursements, if any, by either state or fadera
governments based on subsequent audits will not be material in relation to the
District's financial statements as of June 30, 2021.

Litigation

The District is subject to claims arising out of its normal operations. In the opinlon of
management, after raview and consultation with caunsel, any proceedings that may be
assessed will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the District
or resuits of its operations.

Risk Management

The District is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts, theft of, damage to

and destruction of assets, errors and omissions, injuries to employees and natural
disasters. It is the policy of the District to purchase commercial insurance for the risks
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18.

16.

17.

of loss to which it is exposed, including workers' compensation and employee health
and accident insurance,

JOINT VENTURES:

The District and other surrounding educational institutions created a joint venture, the
Lycoming County Insurance Consortium Poolaed Trust (Trust). The District self-insures
through the Trust for certain healthcare benefits provided to current and former
employees, The Trust has purchased an excess policy which covers employee health
benefit ¢laims in excess of $375,000. Claims are recognized as an expense when
paid (cash basis) which is not materially different from the accrual basis. For the year
ended June 30, 2021, the District made payments for healthcare benefit claims of
approximately $2,956,000 to the Trust. Audited financial statements of the Trust are
available.

The District and other surrounding educational institutions created a jointly governed
organization, the Lycoming Career and Technology Center (Center), to provide
vocational and technical education for students of the participating school districts.
The governing board of the Center is comprised of a director from each parlicipating
school district.  For the year ended June 30, 2021, the District paid approximately
$289,000 to the Center. Audited financial staterents of the Center are available.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 4, 2022 which is the date the
financial statements were available fo be issued.

On November 1, 2021, the District fully redeemed General Obligation Note, Series of
2015 in the amount of $2,520,000 plus accrued interest of $27,342 using $1,167,342
budgeted for debt service from the General Fund and $1,380,000 of cash reserves
from the Capital Projects Fund.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS:

In Juna 2017, GASB issued Staternent No, 87, Leases. This statement requires a
lessee to recognize in the financial statements a liability to make lease payments (the
lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset
for the lease tarm. This statement also requires a lessor to recognize a lease
receivable and a deferred inflow of resources for the lease term. Short-term leases (12
months or less) are recognized as outfiows or inflows of resources based on the
payment provisions of the lease contract. In May 2020, GASB issued Statement No.
95, Posfponement of the Effective Date of Certain Authoritalive Guidance, which
delayed the effective date of this statement by eighteen months. This statement is
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2021. The District has not
determined the effect, if any, on the financial statements due to adoption of this
statement.

in June 2018, GASB issusd Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred
before the End of a Construction Period. This statement requires interest cost incurred
before the end of a construction period to be recognized as an expense, in the period
incurred in financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus. Such interest cost should not be capitalized as part of the historical cost of a
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

capital asset. Such interest cost should he recognized as an expenditure on a basis
consistent with governmental fund accounting principles in financial statements
prepared using the current financial resources measurement focus. In May 2020,
GASB issued Statement No. 95, Fosiponement of the Effective Date of Cerain
Authorltative Guidance, which delayed the effective date of this statement by one year.
This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. The
District has not determined the effect, if any, on the financial statements due to
adoption of this statement.

In March 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public
Pannerships and Availability Pay Arrangements. This statement provides accounting
and financial report guidance for public-private and public-public partnership
arrangements {PPPs) and availability pay arrangements (APAs). This statement is
effective for fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2022, The District has not determined
the effect, If any, on the financial statements due to adoption of this statement.

In May 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information
Technology Arrangemants, This statement establishes accounting and financial
reporting guidance for subscription-based information technology arrangements, This
statement requires government end users to record a right-to-use subscription asset
and corresponding subscription liabifity for these arrangements. This statement also
requires additional disclosures in the financial statements. This statement is effective
for fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2022. The District has not determined the
effect, if any, on the financial staterments due to adoption of this statement,

In June 2020, GASB issued Staternent No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Interal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred
Compensation Plans - an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 84, and a
supersession of GASB Statement No. 32. This statement requires that for purposes of
determining whether a primary government is financially accountable for a potential
component unit (PCU), except for certain pension and OPEB fiduciary component
units, the absence of a govering board should be treated the same as the
appointment of a voling majority of a governing boatd if the primary government
performs the duties that a goveming board typically would perform. This statement
also changes the financial reporting requirements for employer sponsors of Section
457 plans. This statement is effective (1) immediately for guidance related to PCUs
and (2) for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2021 for Section 457 plans. The
District determined adoption of the additional PCU guidance did not have a significant
effect on the financial statements, The District has not determined the efiect, if any, on
the financial statements due to adoption of the Section 457 plan provisions of this
statermnent.
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Actual
Budgeted Amourts Budgetary
Origingd Final Basis

REVENUES:
Local sources $ 16,964,570 $ 16,964,570 $ 18,264,227
State sources 12,808,613 12,808,613 13,443,892
Federal sources 560,121 B8O, 121 635,819
Total revenues 30,333,304 30,333,304 32,343 838
EXPENDITURES:
Current;

Instruction 17,824,402 17,824,402 18,646,989

Support services 8,146,631 8,146,631 8,797,502

Neninstructional services 658,979 658,972 £13,136
Totat expenditures 26,630,012 26,630,012 27957 827
EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 3,703,292 3,703,262 4,366,311
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Interfund transfers out (3,481,267) (3,481,267) (3,401,471)
Proceeds from sale of capltal assets 15,284
Refund of prior year revenues (4,217}
Proceads from insurance recoveries 33,495
Budgetary reserve : (597,4438) {597 ,438)
Total other financing sources (uses) {4,078,705) (4.078,705) (3.356,909)
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND
OTHER FINANCING SQURCES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES {375,413) {375,413) 1,029,402
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING 3,682,167 3,662,167 3,978,717
FUND BALANCE, ENDING £ 3,286,754 $ 3,286,754 $ 5‘008.1 19

See Notes to the Basic Financial Staterments
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE DISTRICTS
TOTAL OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS LIABILITY
DIBTRICT PLAN
LA3T 10 YEARS®
(Ballar amouris in thousands)
Juna 30, 2021 Jupe 30, 2020 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2018

TOTAL QFES LIABILITY:

Service cost 5 & 5 o8 § 104 $ 192

Intarest 81 54 104 7%

Changes of benefit terms (1) (100)

Diffarences between expacted and actal experience (411) {431)

Changes of azsumptions 278 (48} (1,080) T4

Banefit paymeants (83) {#1) (145) {198}
NET CHANGE IN TOTAL OPER LIABILITY {71} 15 {1,438} 146

TOTAL QPEB LIABILITY, BEGINNING 1191 1,776 3,234 3,088

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY, ENDING 31720 L] 1,791 i 1,776 § 3,234

COVERED-EMPLOYEE PAYROLL 5 9,385 3 8,063 $ 2,063 $ 10,822

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AS A PERCENTAGE

OF COVERED-EMPLOYEE PAYROLL 18.37% 19.76% 19.60% 20.88%

Notes to Schadula;

¥ This schedule i intended to lustrate the requirement to show information for 10 yaars, However, until & full 10-year trend is
eomplated, the District iz presanting Information for these years only for which Information Is availabla.

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the measuramant data of the total OPEB liabflty, which Is
July 1 of the current fiscal year,

No assetz are aceutnulated in 8 trust that meets the aritera In paragraph 4 of GASE Stalement No. 75 to pay related benefits.

Changes of assumptions used In the measurement of the total GPEB liability beginning July 1, 2020:
Discaunt rate decreased from 3.36% ba 1,86%.
The marriaga assuriplion at retirement decraasad fram 20% 10 10%,
The percent of aligible teachers and administrators without subsidy alecling coverage increased from 65% to 75%.

Changas of barefit tarms used In the measurement of the lotal OPEB (ability beglinning July 1, 2026
Superintendant banelit decreased eligibility to 7 years of servica with district and Includes a premium share If member retires
wilh 7 or 8 years of district service,

Business manager must have 25 yeara of district service and will recelve 7 years of pald single covaraga not to excead
$10,000 por year. Business manager vl cantritute tha sama percentage share of the premium cost as in the year praceding

retirement.

Chenges of assumptions used in the measurement of the total GPEE liabllity baginning July 1, 2019;
Discount rate incrapsed from 2. 98% to 5.36%,

Changes of benefit tarms used in the measurement of the total OPES labllity beginning July 1, 2018;
Administrators are now eligible to recelve 7 years of pald single rate coverage health insurance st the
time af redivement, but not to excesd $10,000 par year instead of the previous two options,

The Supatinterdent Is now eligible for retiramant threugh PEERS,

Change of assumptions used i measuremnent of the ictal OPEB Rability beginntng July 1, 2018;
Discount rate decreased from 3,139 to 2,88%
The trand, alectton, #nd marriage assumplions were wpdated,

Changes of assumptions used in the measurement of the total OPES labilty beginnisg July 1, 2017
Digcount rete Increased from 2.49% 1o 3,13%.

‘The trand assumption was updatad,
Assumptions for salary, mortality, withdrawal and relirerent wera updaled based on new PSERS assumplions.

See Notes to Basic Financial Staternents
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MONTQURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (Schedule) includes the
federal award activity of Montoursville Area School District (District) under programs of
the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2021. The information in this
Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the District, it is not
intended to be and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or
cash flows of the District. Some amounts presented in this schedule may differ from
amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Unifarm
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to

reimbursement.
INDIRECT COST ALLOCATION:

The District has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under
the Uniform Guidance.
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Larson, Kellett & Associates, P.C.

Certified Public Accountants and Consultants

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN AGCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Baard of School Directors
Montoursville Area School District
Montaursville, Pennsylvania:

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States,
the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and
each major fund, of Montoursvilte Area School District (District) as of and for the year ended
June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the District’s basic financial statements, and have issuad our report thereon dated
March 4, 2022,

internal Control Over Financial Reporting

in planning and performing our audit of the financial staterents, we considered the
District's Internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing
our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effactiveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectivenaess of the District's internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding
paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, and therefore, material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. However, as described in
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, we did identify certain
deficiencies in internal cantrol that we consider to be a material weakness and significant
deficiencies.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the deslgn or operation of a controt does not
gllow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements, on a timely basis. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that
there Is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis, We
consider the deficiency described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned
costs as item 2021-001 to be a material waakness.

- 56 -
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A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance. We consider the deficiencies described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2021-002, 2021-003,
and 2021-004 to be significant deficiencies.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial statements
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provistons of faws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which
could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an
opinton on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Govarnment Auditing Standards.

District’s Response to Findings

The District's response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The District's response was not
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and,
accordingly, we express no opinion on i,

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely fo describe the scope of our testing of internal control
and compliance and the resulls of that festing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part

of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the entity's intemal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable

for any other purpose.
Luoon Rt it A7

Montoursville, Pennsylvania
March 4, 2022
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Larson, Kellett & Associates, P.C,

Certified Public Accountants und Consultants

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR
PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANGCE

Board of School Directors
Montoursville Area Schoal District
Montoursvitle, Pennsylvania:

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Montoursville Area School District's (District) compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a
direct and material effect on each of the District’'s major federal programs for the year
ended June 30, 2021. The District's major federal program Is identified In the summary of
auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms
and conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the District's major
faderal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred o
above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requiremeants, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements
for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could
have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence about the District's compliance with those
requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary In the
circumstances.

We beliave that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our qualified opinion on
compliance for the major federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal
determination of the District's compliance.
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Basls for Qualified Opinlon on COVID-19 Coronavirus Relief Fund

As described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, the District
did not comply with requirements regarding Assistance Listing 21.019 COVID-19
Coronavirus Relief Fund as described in finding number 2021-006 for Activities Allowed or
Unallowed and Allowable Costs/Cost Principals. Compliance with such requirements is
necessary, in our opinion, for the District to comply with the requirements applicable to that
program.

Qualified Opinion on COVID-19 Coronavirus Rellef Fund

in our opinion, except for the noncompliance described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
paragraph, the District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on COVID-19
Coronavirus Relief Fund (Assistance Listing 21.019) for the year ended June 30, 2021,

Other Matters

The District's response to the noncompliance finding identified in our audit is described in
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The District's response was
not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and,
accordingly, we express no opinion on the responses.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the District is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred fo above. In
planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the District's internal
control over compifance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material
effect on the major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance
for the major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control over compliance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described
in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
infernal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that
have not been identified. Howaver, as discussed below, we did identify certain deficiencies
in internal control over compliance, that we consider to be a material weakness and a
significant deficiency.

A deficiency in Internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a
control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a
type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material
weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies,
in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonhable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We consider the deficiency in
internal control over compliance described in the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs as item 2021-005 to be a material weakness,
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A significant deficiency in infernal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of
a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We
cansider tha deficiency in internal control over compliance described in the accompanying
schedula of findings and questioned costs as item 2021-007 to be a significant deficiency.

The District's response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit
is described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The District's
response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance
and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the
scope of our testing of Internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based
on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for

any other purpose.
Lasson, KU Acsrila /L

Montoursville, Pennsylvania
March 4, 2022
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

SECTION | - SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS
Financial Statements

Type of auditors’ report issued on whether
the financial statements audited were prepared
in accordance with GAAP: Unmodified opinion.

Internal controf over financial reporting:
+ Material weakness(es) identified? X yes no
« Significant deficiency(ies) identified
that are not considered to be material
weaknesses? ‘ X yes none reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted? yes X na

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:
= Material weakness{es) identified? X yas no
+ Significant deficiency(ies) identified
that are not considered to be material
weakness(es)? X yes __ hone reported

Type of auditors’ report Issued on compliance for major programs: Qualified opinion.

Any audit findings disclosed that are
required to be reported under 2 CFR
section 200.516 (a)? X yes no

ldentification of major programs:

Assistance Listing Number Name of Federal Program

21.019 COVID-19 Coronavirus Relief Fund

Dollar threshold used to distinguish

between type A and type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as tow-fisk auditee? X yes ne




MONTQURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

SECTION Il - FINDINGS RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT AS
REQUIRED TO BE REPORTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GENERALLY ACGCEPTED
AUDITING STANDARDS AND GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

2021-001,

2021-002.

FOOD SERVICE MANAGEMENT FEES

Criterfa: The District's contract with a third-party food service management
company (FSMC) requires the FSMC to provide documentation that it has
credited the District for the value of donated foods received for use In the
District's food service during the school year. The contract also requires the
District to reconcile, at least annually, the management fees to ensure FSMC
has credited it for the value of donated foods received for use in the District's
food service operation.

Condition: The District did not perform an annual reconciliation of the FSMC's
fees 1o ensure the FSMC credited the District for the value of donated foods
recaived,

Cause: Although District management reviewed each involce from FSMC to
ensure the District was charged only for services received in accordance with
the contract, management was not aware of the requirement to reconcile total
fees and credits for the value of donated foods received annually.

Effect: Due to an error identified by the FSMC in calculating the credits, the
District did not receive the credits due and, prior to correction, management
fees expense was materially misstated for the year.

Questioned Costs: Not applicable.

Perspective Information: Not applicable,

Identification of Repeat Findings: Not applicable,

Recommaendation: The District should implement procedures to reconcile
annually the management fees to ensure FSMC has credited the District for the
value of donated foods received for use in the District's food service operation.
Views of Responsible Officials: Management agrees with the finding.

Flanned Corrective Action. See District's corrective action plan.

CUSTODIAL FUNDS DISBURSEMENTS

Criteria: In accordance with School Board Policy No. 618, Student Activily
Funds, disbursements from the student activities funds shall be made only by
check upon request of the authorized advisor and the approval of the fund

custodian. Disbursements shall be supported by invoices or verified
documentation,

Condition: Although two check disbursements selected for testing included a
withdrawal request signed by the authorized advisor and fund cusiodian, the
disbursements did not include supporting invoices or verified documentation.
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2021-003,

Cause: The authorized advisor and fund custodian relied on the withdrawal
request or a brochure for items purchased as supporting documentation for the
disbursements.

Effect: The disbursements were not made in accordance with School Board
Policy No. 618, Student Activity Funds.

Questioned Costs. Not applicable.

Perspective Information: 2 out of 31 disbursements haphazardly selected for
tasting.

Identification of Repeat Findings: Not applicable.

Recommendation: The authorized advisors and fund custodians should follow
School Board Policy to ensure all disbursements are supported by invoices or
verified documentation.

Views of Responsible Officials: Management agrees with the finding.
Flanned Corrective Action: See District’s corrective action plan.
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL INTERESTS

Critgria. \n accordance with School Board Policy No. 004, Membership, each
member of the Board of School Directors shall file a statement of financial
interests with the State Ethics Commission before taking the oath of office or
entering upon his or her duties. 65 Pa. C.S.A. 1104 requires any public
employee or public official to file a statement of financial interest with the Board
of School Directors by which he or she is employed, appointed, or elected by
May 1 of each year, Public employees include individuals responsible for
taking or recommending official action of a non-ministerial nature with regard to
contracting or procurement and administering or monitoring grants or subsidies.

Condition: Statements of financial inferests were not available to the Board of
School Directors by May 1 of each year.

Cause: The Board Secretary makes requests for the statements to be
completed and filed; however, statements were not available to the District,

Effect: The Board of School Directars may enter into confracts with unidentified
refated parties.

Questioned Costs; Not applicable.

Perspective Information; Not applicable.

Identification of Repeat Findings: Not applicable.

Recommendation: The District should implement procedures to ensure each

public official and public employee responsible for contracting or procurement
and administering or monitoring grants or subsidies timely files a statement of
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2021-004.

financial interests by May 1 each year. The District must have & copy of these
statements for their files,

Views of Responsible Officials: Management agrees with the finding.
Planned Corrective Action; See District's corrective action plan.
FIDUCIARY FUNDS REPORTING

Criteria: In accordance with GASB Statement No. B4, Fiduciary Activities,
activities that meet applicable criteria should be reported as fiduciary funds in
the basic financial statements and include a statement of fiduclary net position
and a statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fiduciary net position,
The general ledger chart of accounts should be maintained with appropriate
asset, liability, net position, revenue and expense accounts to facilitate
generating the information needed to present these basic financial statements.

Condition: The fund custodians for the scholarship frust funds and student
activities custodial funds maintain a general ledger chart of accounts that
includes asset and llability accounts; however, net position, revenue and
expense accounts are not maintained. Management petrforms manual
reconciliations at the close of each year to report net position, revenues and
expenses for the trust and custodial funds.

Cause: Although the District's general ledger accounting system is capable of
tracking revenues and expenses separate from assets and liabllities, the fund
custodians post cash receipts and cash disbursements for the various activities
directly to each student activitys' liability account.

Effect: Without proper use of net position, revenue and expense accounts,
intentional or unintentional errors could occur and not be detected and
corrected. The general ledger chart of accounts does not facilitate generating
the information needed to present basic financial statements without additional
manual reconciliations outside of the accounting systern,

Questioned Costs: Not applicable,

Perspective Information: Not applicable,

ldentification of Repeat Findings: Not applicable.

Recommendation: The fund custodians should utilize the general ledger
accounting system to frack revenues and expenses separately for each
scholarship and student activity.

Views of Responsible Officials: Management agrees with the finding.

Planned Corrective Action: See District's corrective action plan.
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

SECTION ill - FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS
U.8. DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY

2021-005,

2021-006,

COVID-19 Coronavirus Relief Fund - Assistance Listing 21.019 passed through
tha Pennsylvania Commission on Crime and Delinquency; Grant Period - Year
Endad June 30, 2021.

Criteria: The OMB compliance supplement 2 CFR Part 200, Appendix XI, Part
Six: Internal Control, requires that as a condition of receiving federal awards
nonfederal entifies agree to maintain internal control to provide reasonable |
assurance of compliance with the requirements.

Condition: Expenditure reports submitted to the Pennsylvania Commission on
Crime and Delinquancy website did not have documentation of review and
approval by a knowledgeable individual independent of the preparation and
input of the reports.

Cause: The Superintendent enters Iinformation into the Pennsylvania
Commission on Crime and Delinquency website, but no one indapendent of the
report preparation and input process reviews the report or input for
completeness and accuracy.

Effect: Intentional or unintentional errors could occur and not be detected or
corrected.

Questioned Costs: None.

Perspective Information: Not applicable,

Identification of Repeat Findings: Nat applicable,

Recommendation: A knowledgeable individual, independent of the report
preparation and input process, should review the report and input for
completeness and accuracy and the review should be documented.

Views of Responsible Officials: Management agrees with the finding.

Flanned Carrective Action: See District's corrective action plan.

COVID-19 Coronavirus Relief Fund - Assistance Listing 21.019 passed through
the County of Lycoming; Grant Period - Year Ended June 30, 2021.

Criteria; The OMB Compliance Supplement 2021 for Assistance Listing 21.01¢
Coronavirus Relief Fund refers to Federal Register notice 86 FR 4182 (Jan. 15,
2021) which states that “although a broad range of uses is allowed, revenue
replacement is not a permissible use of Fund payments”.

Condition: A lLost revenue calculation related to athletic events was
reimbursed with federal funds passed through the County of Lycoming.
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MONTOURSVILLE AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

2021-007.

Cause: A lost revenue calculation was included on the County of Lycoming
Cares Act Needs Assessment and reimbursed by the County of Lycoming.

Effect: The District may have to repay the reimbursement.

Questioned Costs:  $57,160 was the amount the County of Lycoming
reimbursed the District related to the lost revenue calculation for the COVID-19
Coranavirus Relief Fund Assistance Listing 21.019.

Perspective Information: Not applicable.

Identification of Repeat Findings: Not applicable.

Recommendation: The District should evaluate the risk of noncompliance with
federal statutes and regulations, in addition to the terms and conditions of
awards passed through from a subrecipient.

Views of Responsible Officials: Management agrees with the finding.

Planned Corrective Action: See District's corrective action plan.

COVID-19 Coronavirus Relief Fund - Assistance Listing 21.019; passed
through the Pennsylvania Commission on Crime and Delinquency and the
County of Lycoming, Grant Period - Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021,

Significant Deficiency: See deficiency 2021-003 in Section i
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